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The Court: Let me have that book, Mr. Mc­
Kenzie. 

(Witness hands book to Court.) 

By the Court: 

Q. Now pursuing the subject that I touched upon before 
the recess, this book, Exhibit 179, and your testimony, in­
dicate, do they not, that large numbers of notices were 
sent out to persons to come in for purposes of qualifica­
tion 1 A. That is right, your I-Ionor. 

Q. And then after responses were made and put through 
the mill, whatever that proces-s was, there came out a 
much lesser number who really qualified~ A. That is true. 

Q. Now, as I understood your testimony on direct ex­
amination-or perhaps it was cross, I forget which-it 
was to the effect that of all the thousands of notices sent 
out, as indicated by this book and by your testimony, only 
about 15 to 20 per cent qualified 1 A. That is correct, your 
.Honor. 

Q. Now you have also told 1ne that there is no way 
of telling from your records as to any particular Assembly 
District how n1any qualified of the number to whom notices 
were sent 1 A. That is true, your Honor. 

Q. You only have the aggregate number who qualified 1 
A. That is true, your Honor. 

(3696) Q. So that, for example, in the Ninth Assembly 
District, 900 notices were sent out. For all you know only 
perhaps 15 or 20 persons qualified, or perhaps a hundred 
persons qualified, or perhaps more 1 A. That is true. 

Q. That is all a matter of speculation, as your records 
are silent on the subject 1 A. That is true, your Honor. 

Mr. Gladstein: Now, I hav.e asked the witness 
and I think that he responded and gave the figure a~ 
to the number of notices sent out to people in the 
15th Assembly District as being a figure in excess 
of 4,000-

The Court: 4,075. 
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By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Is that right 1 A. Yes. 

Mr. Gladstein: Now I will ask the Court to take 
judicial notice of the fact that the 15th Assembly 
District is represented in the State Legislature of 
the State of New York by a Republican. 

The Court: vV ell, if that is so I will do so. 
:Mr. Gladstein: Very well. 
The Court: I will take your word for it. 
Mr. Gladstein: Now, your Honor, as a preface 

to the next two or three questions I will call your 
Honor's attention to the fact that the First, Eighth 
(3697) and Ninth Assembly Districts are in sub­
stantial part contained within the 17th Congres­
sional District. 

The Court: The First, Eighth and Ninth Assem­
bly Districts 1 

Mr. Gladstein: Yes; a portion of the Eighth 
and substantially all of the Ninth and substantially 
all of the First. 

The Court : Generally in the-
Mr. Gladstein: Generally in the 17th Congres­

sional District. 

(3698) Q. Now, Mr. McKenzie, during the two-year 
period we are talking about, 1947 and 1948, how many 
notices did you send out to people in the First Assembly 
District1 

The Court : He has given you that. 2850. 

Q. And in the 8th 1 A. 650. 
Q. And in the 9th? A. 900. 

The Court: Yes, we have that already. 
Mr. Gordon: You can't double it by repeating 

it, your Honor. 
The Court: No. I have been taking these all 

down. You started with the 9th; you covered the 
9th, the 15th, the 1st and the 8th. 

The Witness: That figure I gave you, that is 
605. 
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The Court: 650 ~ 
The Witness: It should be 605. 
The Court: All right. 

Q. Now turning for a moment to the Bronx, to which 
of the Assembly Districts located therein did you send the 
largest number of notices during this two-year period 1 A. 
The 9th Assembly District of the Bronx. 

Q. And how many notices did you send 1 A. 4500. 
Q. And did you send any to the lOth 1 A. This would 

indicate yes. 

(3699) Q. How many~ A. 1970. 

Mr. Gladstein: I will ask the Court to take judi­
cial notice of the fact that Parkchester is located 
partly in the 9th and partly in the lOth Assembly 
Districts. 

Mr. Gordon: Will your Honor take judicial no­
tice that those two Assembly Districts are the largest 
in the Bronx 1 

The Court : Yes, I will take judicial notice of 
both facts. 

Q. How many notices during that period did you send 
out to people whose names you obtained from the Direc­
tory of Corporation Directors~ A. From February 1947 
to October 1948 Directory of Directors shows 1699. 

Q. How many do your records show that you obtained 
from the membership lists of trade unions~ A. There is 
nothing to indicate on the list here. 

Mr. Gordon: Is there anything to indicate that 
any trade unions ever submitted any lists, your 
Honor? That is completely irrelevant. 

The Court: I did not know trade unions had 
directories that were published for distribution. 

Mr. Gladstein: I said membership lists. 
~Ir. Gordon: Membership lists. I think that in 

view of the fact that there has been no testimony 
that any trade union ever tried to get someone on 
the jury, that ( 3700) the question should be-
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The Court: I think it sufficiently appears that 
the witness did not in his operation of the system 
here seek to get directories of trade unions or mem­
bership lists of trade unions. 

Q. How many do your records show you sent to people 
whose names you got out of the address telephone book 1 
A. For the Manhattan Telephone Directory 1150. 

Q. Did you get some that you called miscellaneous or 
miscellaneous source 1 A. Miscellaneous sources from the 
Assembly Districts of Manhattan and Bronx. 

Q. How many 1 A. Miscellaneous 155. 
Q. How can those be identified as to Assembly Dis­

trict 1 A. They were all odd lots. 
Q. Odd lots from what 1 A. From each Assembly Dis­

trict there would be probably 115 or 116. I would send 
out the hundred and put the 16 in with a batch to add a 
round figure and mail them all out then under miscellan­
eous or mixed or odd lots, whatever they may have used. 

Q. Miscellaneous, odd lots, mixed, would represent per­
sons who came from one or another of the registered lists 
of Assembly Districts to which you sent notices, these 
little miscellaneous groups being left over from an odd 
lot, is that it~ A. From various Assembly Districts, the 
odd lots on (3701) those districts, that is correct. 

Q. However, those miscellaneous, mixed and odd lot 
groups consist of people whose names came from the very 
same registered lists of voters in the very same Assembly 
Districts to which your records show you sent notices, 
is that correct~ A. That is true. 

The Court: They would have to be. 

Q. Does that last answer cover also the item of mixed f 
A. Mixed, that applies the same. Miscellaneous and mixed 
would cover those particular items. 

The Court: Now you have got this whisperin o-

again. Let me just see now. o 

Mr. Gladstein: I think the testimony of the wit­
ness plainly clarifies the exhibit. And I will now 
offer in evidence that exhibit, your Honor. 
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The Court: Let me see what this word mixed 
means. You had a little talking session there, I 
think you understood it but I didn't get it. 

What is the ''mixed'' f 
The Witness: Mixed is the same as miscellan­

eous that I explained. 
The Court: So really we ought to add miscellan­

eous and mixed together. 
The Witness: They should, but the book states 

them in one page as mixed and over in another page 
it is (3702) referred to as miscellaneous. 

The Court: I see. That is very clear. All right, 
the exhibit may be marked in evidence. 

(Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 182 for identi­
fication received in evidence.) 

Q. Now on your table, 1\Ir. McKenzie, I see a lot of lists 
of registered voters. Are those the ones you made use 
of during 194 7 and 19481 A. That is correct. 

Mr. Gladstein: Now one of these has been 
marked, your Honor, and it is in evidence at 183, and 
I suggest that perhaps the others be added to it as 
183-A, B, C, D, if that will be satisfactory. 

The Witness: Are you going to take all of 
them? 

Mr. Gladstein: Yes. 
The Court: I see no objection to that. That 

is 186-A, B, C. D ¥ 
Mr. Gladstein: I think that is the way to do it. 

They are all registered lists. If possible, I suggest 
they be marked to have the Manhattan group first 
and the Bronx group next, but I don't want to put 
you to any trouble about it. 

The Clerk: It will be more than D when I get 
through. 

The Court: Yes, I see what it is; but we will 
wait until they are marked and then I can make the 
notation. l3703) Perhap\s it is better to have 
these papers marked during the recess. We will 
reserve the number for them. Mr. Borman tells 
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me that the arrangment Df them will take a little 
time. So, Mr. Gladstein, you may proceed. 

Mr. Gladstein: Your Honor, may my examina­
tion be interrupted~ Mr. Crockett has another mat­
ter connected with the case this afternoon and he 
has some questions he would like to put to Mr. 
McKenzie. It would convenience both of us greatly. 

The Court: Now as I understand it, you are not 
going to have a lot of repetition here~ 

Mr. Gladstein: Oh, no. 
The Court: And you gentlemen have this or­

ganized so that you can do it expeditiously. And 
with that understanding I will allow hin1 to do that. 

Mr. Gladstein: I will come back-
The Court: I don't want anything like what we 

had a little earlier. Now, just go along and organ­
ize this thing in an expeditious and reasonable way. 
I am going to let you conduct your cross-examina­
tion in whatever way you want to do it. 

Mr. Gladstein: Very well. 
Mr. McGohey: There is no objection from the 

Government, your Honor. 

(3704) By Mr. Crockett: 

Q. Mr. McKenzie, Challenge Exhibit No. 181 is an en­
velope that contains-

Mr. Sacher: Will you speak up, l\1r. Crockett. 
I can't hear you. 

Q. -Challenge Exhibit No. 181 is an envelope that 
contains qualification questionnaires; they are matters of 
record in your office, is that right 1 A. That is correct. 

Q. And those are the questionnaires for the persons 
whose names appear on Challenge Exhibit No. 181-A, is 
that right? A. That is correct. 

Mr. Crockett: If the Court please, I should like 
to offer in evidence individually each of these quali­
fication questionnaires and have them marked as 
Defendants' Challenge Exhibits. 
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The Court: Do you think it is necessary to do 
that~ 

1\ir. Crockett: I think so, your Honor, because 
I do want to ask some questions concerning each 
one. 

The Court: Well, let us try the first one and 
see how it goes. I do not want to have such a multi­
plicity of exhibits here that the thing gets unman­
ageable; but if it develops that the line of examina­
tion is within reasonable bounds I shall permit you 
to do it. 

(3705) Mr. Crockett: This is a questionnaire 
filled out presumably by Richard Sypron Bair. I 
should like to have that marked for identification. 

(Marked Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 184 for 
identification.) 

Mr. Crockett: I offer it in evidence. 
The Court: That is the questionnaire and also 

the card, or just the questionnaire~ 
Mr. Crockett: That is the questionnaire and the 

card. The history card. I am sorry. 
The Court: You had better mark them A and 

B. 

(Marked Defendants' Challenge Exhibits 184-A 
and 184-B for identification.) 

The Court: 184-A and B? 
The Clerk: Yes, your Honor. 
The Court: You are reserving 186 for the 

others~ 
The Clerk: 183. 
The Court: 183. Then I got that ·wrong. 
Mr. Gordon: No objection. 
1\fr. Crockett: I offer it in evidence. 

(Defendants' Challenge Exhibits 184-A and 184-
B for identification received in evidence.) 

Q. Now, Mr. McKenzie, I show you Defendants'-

1vfr. Sacher: Louder, please. I can't hear you, 
ltfr. Crockett. 
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(3706) Q. I show you Defendants' Challenge Ex­
hibit-

The Court: You had better do what I suggested 
to Mr. Gladstein, then everybody can hear. 

Mr. McGohey: May I ask your Honor : these are 
the papers that Mr. McKenzie produced this morn­
ing, are they not, Mr. Crockett 1 

Mr. Crockett: That is right. 
Mr. McGohey: Thank you. 

Q. You have before you, Mr. McKenzie, Defendants' 
Challenge Exhibit No. 184-A, is that right? A. That is 
correct. 

Q. And that is the qualification questionnaire filled out 
by what person 1 A. Richard Sypron Bair, B-a-i-r. 

Q. And that questionnaire is sworn to, is it not? A. It 
is, as of May 26, 1942. 

Q. Will you state who took the acknowledgment on that 
questionnaire~ A. I did. 

Q. Your signature appears on there? A. That is cor­
rect. 

Q. Directly below your signature is there in a circle the 
letter 0~ A. That is correct. 

Q. Now I show you the remaining qualification question­
naires that were included in the envelope marked Challenge 
Exhibit No. 181, and I should like to have you separate 
those questionnaires into two piles, one, those (3707) 
that have a C on them and those that do not have a C on 
them in a circle. A. (Witness complies.) All right, sir. 

Q. Now you saw the prospective juror Mr. Bair at the 
time you took his acknowledgement, did you not? A. Yes, I 
did. 

Q. Was he a Negro or was he white? 

Mr. Gordon: Your Honor-
The Court : Well, now, they are going to be able 

to tell without asking him. but it is all right with me. 
I think I can tell generally myself. So I am g!}ing 
to allow the question, even though at an earlier stage 
of the proceeding-s it was insisted that the person be 
nsked the specific question. 
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Mr. Gordon: It was insisted by Mr. Crockett. 
The Court: I know. But I am going to allow it, 

just the same. 
Mr. Crockett: Perhaps I can reframe it. 
The Court: You do not need to reframe it. 
Mr. Crockett: Very well. 
The Court: I think I can tell, generally speaking, 

when a person is a Negro or not, and that is all that 
is 'being asked here, and I think it is perfectly proper. 

~fr. Crockett: There is a difference, your Honor; 
at the time I objected it was to the Court's statement 
because it was in the nature of testimony by the 
( 3708) Court. 

The Court: Well, it did seem to me at the time 
it was a little bit ridiculous, when I see a man take 
the stand who looks to me like a white man and then 
you have to ask him the question. I did think it wa.s 
silly and I said so. But now you are asking him 
if he noticed whether the man was a Negro or not, 
and I am saying it is a perfectly proper question, 
and it is. 

Q. Will you answer the question~ 

The Court: Now what is the answer 1 
The Witness: Will you give me that question 

again7 
The Court: Whether you saw he was a Negro. 

A. From the indication on this-from the mark on this ap­
plication it would indicate that he was a Negro. 

Q. So that C on there means that it is a Negro 7 A. 
0 on here would mean that the juror is a Negro. 

Q. You placed the C on there, did you not, Mr. McKen­
zie 1 A. On this particular application, the questionnaire, I 
did~ 

Mr. Crockett: Your Honor, in view of the testi­
mony that the witness has just given I move that all 
of the questionnaires in the jury commissioner's 
office be impounded and that the Court grant to me 
and my colleague.s, in association with the United 
States Attorney, (3709) a reasonable opportunity 
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to go through each of these qualification question­
naires in order to pick out how many of them have 
that notation C on there. 

The Court: I will deny that application. This 
witness has testified, I think it was yesterday, that 
there was no way of telling, that some of them had 
this mark on as was indicated by the few lists pro­
duced yesterday, but as I understood him that there 
was no general practice throughout of doing that. 
So that I do not suppose it would develop anything. 

Mr. Crockett: I am not speaking about the lists 
that were introduced in evidence yesterday, your 
Honor, which presumably were sent by the Federal 
Grand Jury Association. I am talking about the offi­
cial records of this court, the questionnaire that was 
filled out by a prospective juror and at that time the 
witness himself, who is the jury commissioner, took 
cognizance of the prospective jurors' race and made 
a notation on the questionnaire to that effect. 

The Court: Yes; you see, Mr. Crockett, if there 
was proof that that was done throughout the whole 
period so that all you had to do was look at the 
questionnaires to see, I might consider that more 
seriously. But as the testimony is that you can't 
do that, I am not going to permit it. 

(3710) Mr. Crockett: The proof can only be 
aseertained, your Honor, by going through the ques­
tionnaires and finding out. 

The Court: I will not allow it. 

Q. Mr. McKenzie, how many questionnaires do you have 
there with the letter Con them? A. (Referring to papers.) 
30. 

Q. Now those questionnaires are always kept on band, 
regularly available, in your office, are they not f A. Yes, 
they are. 

Q. So that if at any time it was desired to ascertain the 
race of a juror you could by referring to his question­
naire find out what his race was? 
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l\fr. Gordon: That is objected to as very specu­
lative and in view of the proof it is contrary to the 
testimony. 

The Court: It seems to me that is the question 
that I asked yesterday or the day before to which he 
answered that you could not, but I will permit it 
again. Maybe there is some misunderstanding. 

Mr. Crockett: I recall that your Honor's ques­
tion had to do with the history cards. 

The Court : I don't think so. 
l\fr. Crockett: I am talking about the qualifica­

tion questionnaires on which the witness has (3711) 
admitted that a C, indicating the race of the juror 
was placed. 

l\fr. Gordon: One juror. 30 I think. 30. 
The Court : I asked him, according to my notes, 

in the morning session of February 15th, whether 
there was any way of telling how many Negroes were 
on the full jury lists and he said there was not. I 
take it that means, if it means anything, that you 
just can't go through all those questionnaires and 
ascertain it. But you may ask him again. 

Mr. Crockett: \Viii you read the question to the 
witness. 

Q. (Read.) A. No, you could not. 

Mr. Crockett: May I see Challenge Exhibits 159, 
163 and 162? Do you have them, Mr. Borman~ 

The Clerk: What were the numbers? 
Mr. Crockett: Challenge Exhibits 159, 163 and 

162. 
The Court: Let's see. 163 and 162. Let me see 

if I can identify them here. 
Yes. Those are, respectively, 159 is that list of 

13 names returnable March 7, 1941, that was called 
''Colored List'' on which the names were respective­
ly marked B-1 to B-13 inclusive. 

162 iR the list of 31 names submitted by the 
(3712) Federal Grand ,Jurors Association and 
marked '' 6 List.'' And 163 j s the list of four names 
dated June 17, 1941, marked "Colored ~fen" or 
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"Males " I forget which, also submitted by the Fed-' . eral Grand Jurors Association. 
Am I right, Mr. Crockett1 
Mr. Crockett: That is right, your Honor. 
If your Honor please, I .should like at this time 

to offer in evidence each of these qualification lists 
that were included in the envelope marked Chal­
lenge Exhibit 181. 

The Court: Only the ones with the C on 1 
11r. Crockett: No. All of them. 
The Court : All of them. 
Mr. Crockett: There are some that do not have 

the C on. 
Mr. McGohey: The Government has no objec-

tion. 
The Court: All right, you may do that. I am a 

little puzzled as to the purpose, but you may mark 
them. 

Mr. Gordon: I understand Mr. Crockett made 
the representation this morning that the names of 
all those people were colored people, taken from 
"Colored Lists." 

Mr. Crockett: No, I did not. 
The Court: No. 
Mr. Gordon: Was it Mr. Gladstein? 
Mr. Crockett: I don't think Mr. ·Gladstein did. 
(3713) The Court: I don't think .so, Mr. Gor-

don. I did not so understand it. I was wondering 
what this was supposed to be, but I do not think Mr. 
Crockett or Mr. Gladstein stated that. 

Mr. Gordon: My recollection is that Mr. Glad­
stein said that all the people on that list which they 
had given to Mr. McKenzie were colored people. 

~fr. Crockett: Well, if Mr. Gladstein made such 
a statement he was mistaken. As a matter of fact I 
prepared this list and gave it to Mr. Gladstein to re­
quest that the witness bring in those qualification 
questionnaires. 

The Court: Yes and you did not understand 
that they were all colored persons? 
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Mr. Crockett: I did not. I am prepared to state 
_for the record, your Honor, that the list represen~s 
the names of jurors on the 30 panels that were testi­
fied to here in our direct examination who resided in 
the 22nd Congressional District. 

Mr. Gordon: Mr. Crockett is prepared to testify 
as to that, your Honor 1 

Mr. Crockett: No. I said I am prepared to 
state it for the reeord. If you object, then I will 
not press it. 

Mr. Gordon: Then I object to it. 
The Court: Let me just get myself straightened 

out. How many names are on that list, Mr. 
Crockett, (3714) approximately1 

Mr. Crockett: I would say approximately 45. 
The Court : All right. 
J\1r. Crockett: Your Honor will recall that there 

were four names with which no questionnaire or his­
tory card was found by Mr. McKenzie. 

The Court: Yes, I do. The 22nd Congressional 
Distriet, you said. 

Mr. Crockett: That is right. 
The Court: We will just take that as an indica­

tion. That is not testimony, that is just your repre­
sentation, which is all right. Now, go on from 
there. You have got these three exhibits now that 
you asked for and the clerk is going to mark in evi­
dence all of the-

Mr. Crockett: Can't we do it all at one time, 
your Honor, to save time~ 

The Court: Yes, he may do it now. 
Mr. Gordon: Why not mark the envelope with 

its contents, your Honor 1 
The Court: But he is only offering part of them 

now. 
JVf r. Crockett : I am offering all of them, but I 

would like to have them marked individually because 
I desire to ask a question about each one. 

The Court: Well, you may do that. We will 
(3715) mfltk .them consecutively. 
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Mr. McGohey: I think that is better, your Honor, 
and we will know what we are talking about. 

The Court : Yes. 
The Clerk: The questionnaire will be A and the 

history card will be B. 
The Court: That is right. As you mark a few 

of them hand them up to me so that I can be looking 
at them. 

The Clerk: These will be A and B, 185 to and 
including 226-A and B. 

The Court: I suggest, Mr. Crockett, that while 
Mr. Borman is marking those you may pursue your 
inquiries as to those three exhibits, 159, 163 and 162 
which have been handed to you. 

Q. I show you, Mr. McKenzie, Challenge Exhibit No. 
159. I believe you testified yesterday that the second 
page of that exhibit was received in your office and then 
the first page was prepared, is that right 1 A. That is cor­
rect. 

Q. You also testified that you did not know what the 
check marks on the first page indicated, is that right? A. 
Yes, that is so. 

Q. Could it be possible that those check marks indicate 
that notice to come in and qualify was sent to each person 
whose name is checked there~ 

(3716) Mr. Gordon: That is objected to, your 
Honor. 

The Court: Sustained. 

Q. Are you prepared to say that notice to come in and 
"testify" was not sent to each person whose name is 
checked there? A. No, I am not. 

Mr. Gordon: To testify? 
Mr. Crockett: To come in and qualify I said. 
Mr. Gordon: He said, to come in and testify. 
The Court: Well, he meant ''to qualify." 

Q. If such a notice were .sent and the person came in 
and qualified there would be a history card for the person, 
would there not? A. Yes, there would. 
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Mr. Crockett: May I see the questionnaire for 
Roger W. Flood 1 

The Court: That is 187-A and B ~ 
The Clerk: It is not numbered yet, your Honor. 
The Court: All right. You may use it and we 

will give it a number in due course. It is sufficiently 
identified by the name. 

Q. Now, at the time the first page of Challenge Exhibit 
No. 159 was prepared in your office-it was prepared in 
your office, is that right~ A. The first page~ 

Q. Yes. A. Yes, that is correct. 
Q. And it was in your office that the designation 

(3717) "Colored List" was placed at the top, is that 
right~ A. That is correct. 

Q. Was there any previous check made to ascertain 
whether or not each of the 13 names on the first page 
of Challenge Exhibit 159 were Negroes~ A. We did not 
check the Negroes ; we checked the files to, see if the- man 
was ever on the jury or had ever been taken off at any 
time. 

Q. You interview the man when he comes in, do you 
not~ A. Yes. 

Q. And you can tell from the interview whether or not 
he is a Negro or a white person, can you not 7 A. That 
is correct. 

Q. Now I ask you again, at the time the name ''Colored 
List" was placed up at the top of the first page of Chal­
lenge Exhibit 159 had there been a previous determination 
that each of the 13 persons whose names appear on that 
list were Negroes 1 A. They had been checked in the Off 
file and the active file, but not checked to determine if they 
were Negroes. 

Q. You see the name of Roger W. Flood on that first 
list, do you not¥ A. I do. 

Q. I show you the questionnaire for a Roger W. Flood. 
I ask you if that is the same Roger W. Flood whose name 
appears on the first page of Challenge Exhibit 1597 
(3718) A. That is correct. 

Q. And the Con the questionnaire for Roger W. Flood 
indicates that he is a Negro, is that right? A. That is 
correct. 
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Mr. Crockett: Do you have the questionnaire for 
Wilbur Coleman~ 

The Court: Wilbur Coleman 1 
Mr. Crockett: Coleman. 
The Court: May I have that exhibit which is the 

list 159~ Is that around here somewhere7 
Mr. Crockett: I think the witness has it. 
The Court: That is the two pages. 
The "\Vitness: No. 159, your Honor. 
The Court: 159, here it is. 

Q. I show you Defendants' Challenge Exhibit No. 190-A 
which purports to be the qualification questionnaire of 
Wilbur Coleman. I ask you if there is not the designation 
C, meaning Negro, on that questionnaire? A. Yes, that 
is correct. 

Q . .And that Wilbur ~.,. Coleman is the same Wilbur F. 
Coleman whose name appears on page 1 of Challenge 
Exhibit No. 159, is that right~ .A. Yes, that is so. 

·Q . .And there is a check mark after his name, is that 
right¥ .A. That is so. 

Q. So that check mark might indicate that a notice 
(3719) to come in and qualify was sent to him~ 

Mr. Gordon: Objected to. 
The Court: That was the objection made before 

and sustained. The witness has testified that he did 
not know anything· about that. What it might be or 
what it might not be is a matter of inference which 
I may draw or you may draw, but don't ask him the 
same question because I have ruled on it. 

What is the date of the Coleman questionnaire 7 
The Witness: March 7, 1941. 
The Court : Thank you. 

Q. Mr. Mcl{enzie, what does the check mark beside the 
name of Wilbur F. Coleman on Challenge Exhibit No. 
159 mean? 

Mr. Gordon: That is objected to as repetitious. 
The Court: Sustained. 
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Q. Now I believe you testified with reference to Chal­
lenge Exhibit 159 that the E which appears besides the 
names of some of the persons on there was placed there by 
you, is that right 1 A. The assistant might-

Q. I believe you said it was in your handwriting. A. 
On this particular exhibit 1 Pardon me. I am referring 
to the history card. This particular one is my E, yes. 

The Court: l\Ieaning what exhibit~ 
The Witness: Exhibit 159. 
( 3720) The Court : 159. 

Q. You also testified that that E indicated that the 
person was eligible for jury duty 1 A. That is correct. 

Q. Can you explain why there was no E opposite the 
name of Wilbur F. Coleman 1 A. No, I cannot. 

Q. But he was eligible for jury duty7 A. He quali:fied-

Mr. Gordon: He became a juror and served, your 
Honor. 

A. (Continuing) He qualified on March 7, 1941 and served 
in April 1941. 

Mr. Gladstein: I move that Mr. Gordon's re­
marks be stricken. I think that comes under a cate­
gory of testimony, your Honor. 

The Court : Well-
Mr. Gordon: The exhibit is in evidence. 
The Court: The card is right before the witness, 

and the card shows those very things. I see no 
impropriety in them, Mr. Gladstein. The fact re­
mains, as Mr. Crockett has brought out, there isn't 
any E on there and the witness does not know why 
there isn't any E there and I don't either. 

Q. Am I correct in my understanding, Mr. McKenzie, 
that for each person whose name is followed by an E on 
Challenge Exhibit No. 159 a qualification questionnaire 
_was made out and history card prepared 1 A. That is 
( 3721) correct. 

Q. But you are unable to state whether or not the person 
whose name is followed by a check made out a qualification 
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questionnaire~ A. That I don't know. I know the E is 
my writing, and I know the D is my writing. As to the 
checks, I cannot account for that check on there. 

Mr. Crockett: I should like to request at this 
time, your Honor, that you direct the witness to bring 
in for this afternoon's session the qualification ques­
tionnaire and the history card of each person who is 
listed on Challenge Exhibit No. 159. 

The Court: I am not going to direct that until 
you are through with this mass of things that you 
have directed him to bring in. It seems to me it is 
too much of a good thing. 

Mr. Crockett: There are only 13 names on here, 
, and two of them we already have. 

The Court: I know; but you see, you keep 
thinking of new things and the papers keep pouring 
in and then you drop them and your mind goes off 
to something else, and you tell him to bring in a lot 
of new ones. Now I said you are not going to have 
any more until you are through with vYhat you have 
got. 

l\1:r. Crockett: l\1ay I make one observation, your 
Honor~ 

( 3722) The Court : Yes. 
Mr. Crockett: It was not until I examined the 

questionnaires this morning that I ascertained the 
use of this symbol C to mean Negro. I did not in­
clude all of the names on this Challenge Exhibit No. 
159 in requesting questionnaires. Now what I want 
to find out is, whether or not the questionnaires pre­
pared of all the names that appear on Challeng·e 
Exhibit 159 contain the designation C, meaning 
Negro. 

The Court: Well, I do not quite see what it 
would prove if it did. It is to be assumed, as that 
list is marked; the title of it is ''Colored List,'' and 
you have already found that several of them were. 
Isn't it fair to assume that all of them were~ And, 
if it is so, what of it~ 

Mr. Crockett: It becomes important to know-
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The Court: You see, you try to assume or to 
at least assume that if there is this particular list 
and some others that had "Colored" on that there­
fore there must have been a designation throughout 
all these years of every questionnaire of every 
colored person as colored. Now that is what the 
witness says did not happen. 

Mr. Crockett: I am not assuming that. I merely 
want to check it and find out. That is why I asked 
(3723) permission to examine these lists, to see if 
it is on there. 

The Court: I see no reason to allow that. And 
it seems to me that you may go upon the assumption 
that all the names on that list 159 are Negroes and it 
will not be necessary to get the questionnaires out to 
sho·w that. 

Q. Does that same assumption, Mr. McKenzie, stated 
by the Court apply to Challenge Exhibit 162 which has 
the beading "Colored"~ 

The Court: Well, that ·was an assumption that 
I made. I thought it was reasonable. .And I shall 
be willing to make it, if there are lists there that 
are headed "Colored List", I am perfectly willing 
to infer from that that the persons on there are 
colored persons. 

Q. Is that correct, Mr. McKenzie~ 

Mr. Gordon: I don't think Mr. McKenzie knows. 

A. I don't know. I am not in a position to answer it. I 
don't know. 

Mr. Crockett: That is precisely why I wanted to 
examine the qualification questionnaires. 

The Court: You see, when a lawyer wants to 
examine or to put in evidence to prove something and 
the Judge says, "Well, I think that has been estab­
lished," and the lawyer still wants to prove and the 
proof involves getting a lot of docum.ents and asking 
a lot of questions, (3724) naturally the Judge 
wonders why. 
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Mr. Isserman: If the Court please-I am sorry. 
The Court: I am satisfied that from the present 

state of proof that these lists that are called lists 
of colored persons are lists of colored persons. I 
do not see why I should not-

Mr. Isserman: If the Court please, there is 
another reason for the production of the remaining 
applications or questionnaires for which Mr. Crockett 
has asked. It is true that the Court now assumes 
that the persons in question are Negroes, but we 
are concerned with the question of whether or not 
they were marked so on their questionnaire, and 
whether or not it is a general practice to so mark 
them, and we can't accept it from this witness, who 
has ·changed his testimony a number of times-

Mr. Gordon: That is objected to. 
Mr. Isserman: -and qualified; I am prepared 

to show that, your Honor, in detail. 
Mr. Gordon: This is not proper argument. 
Mr. Isserman: That this witness has qualified 

his general statements since he got on the stand. And 
I say that under cross·-examination, we are not 
bound by his answer, we are not obliged to accept it; 
we can probe further, and if we cannot prove that 
that is the ( 3725) system of marking every appli­
cation we have every right to show to the extent to 
which applications in the office of the clerk are 
marked with a C, which can hav.e no purpose but to 
indicate discrimination. 

Mr. Gordon: Your Honor, the record shows that 
these people served. 

The Court: I am going to rule on it now, and 
I don't think I need extended argument. It seems 
to me that a single question will clear this whole 
business up, at least for the moment. 

Mr. McKenzie, was there a time when a C was 
put on to indicate the jurors who were colored and 
other times when there was not~ 

Mr. Isserman: I object to that question, if the 
Court please, even on the Court's question. 

:11r. Gladstein: I don't object to it. 
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The Court: All right, I will withdraw the ques­
tion and sustain the objection. 

Q. Now, do you have Challenge Exhibit No. 163 before 
you, Mr. McKenzie? 

Mr. Isserman: Will your Honor rule on the 
application? 

The Court: I did rule on it. I denied it. I 
sustained the objection that was made by the Govern­
ment. It is just another of these things of trifling 
with the Court. 

(3726) Mr. Isserman: I object to the Court's 
remark. 

The Court: You can object all you want. If 
you want to find out the fact I was prepared to :find 
it out. It developed that you didn't want that. 

JHr. Crockett: I believe your Honor has Chal­
lenge Exhibit No. 163. 

The Court: 1631 Let me get this straightened 
out. I have a note about it here. I haven't actually 
got it before me. 

Mr. Gordon: Here is a copy. Will that help 
you? 

The Court: But you proceed. I know what it is. 
Mr. Gordon: I have given Mr. Crockett a photo­

static copy. I think he can examine from that. 
The Court: Yes, 163 is the list of the four names 

of colored persons that were submitted by the 
Federal Grand Jurors Association on June 17, 1941. 
I am going to assume that those four names are 
names of colored persons. 

Q. Do you have Challenge Exhibit 1627 A. No. 

Mr. Crockett: I do not seem to be able to locate 
Challenge Exhibit 162, your Honor. 

(3727) The Court: Well, 162 is the one with the 
list of 31 colored persons. It is marked at the top 
"6 List." 

Mr. Crockett: I know what it is, but I think it 
has certain markings on it that I wanted to inquire 
about. This is my copy of 162. 
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The Court: You probably just left it up there 
on the desk. 

Mr. Crockett: No, I am looking for the original 
that was introduced in evidence that had the mark­
ings on it. 

The Court : A little patience, and we will find 
it. 

Mr. Gordon: He produced them a few minutes 
ago. 

~fr. McGohey: If your Honor please, I under­
stood that the original of what went into evidence as 
Exhibit 162 was among the papers which Mr. Glad­
stein asked to have photostated and were photo­
stated by the clerk. So perhaps there is a photo­
static copy in the possession of the defendants, as 
I have. 

The Court: He has got the photostat in his hand 
but he wants the original for some reason. 

Mr. Gordon: He just called for it. I thought 
it was produced. 

Mr. Crockett: I will use my own photostatic 
copy, it is just the same as the original, but I wanted 
(3728) the witness to have one before him while I 
was using this. 

The Court : vV ell, maybe there is some way of 
digging up another photostat around here. 

Mr. McGohey, will you be self-sacrificing enough 
to let him use yours 1 

Mr. Gordon: We should like to use ours our­
selves. 

Mr. McGohey: And I have notations of my own 
on it, and I don't want to get into a discussion of 
whether ~fr. McKenzie knows my writing, which I 
often don't recognize myself. 

The Court: I think we will have to get into a 
huddle. You put it in a place where we three can see 
it, and we will keep our voices up, and we will soon 
surmount this crisis. 
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By Mr. Crockett: 

Q. Now Mr. Mcl{enzie, I show you Challenge Exhibit 
162 and call your attention to certain check marks that 
appear after the names of persons on that list. Can you 
tell us what those check marks are intended to indicate1 

Mr. Gordon: May the record show that the 
check marks appear after the occupations, not after 
the names. 

The Court: Yes, they do, and they only appear 
after some of them. 

Do you know what they indicate? 
The Witness: No, your Honor, I do not. 

(.3729) Q. Do you know if any check was made by you 
or by anyone in your office as to the race of the persons 
whose names appear on there~ A. There never was. 

Q. There never was~ A. No. 
Q. Do you know what persons whose names appear on 

there :filled out the qualification questionnaires 7 A. From 
this here (indicating) 7 

Q. Yes. A. No, I do not. 
Q. If such questionnaires were filled out they would be 

in your official files~ A. That is correct. 
Q. And there would also, in the event that you decided 

they were eligible, be history cards~ A. That would be 
so. That is correct. 

Q. I believe you also indicated yesterday that '' 6 
List" was just the identification you gave to that particu­
lar list of names represented by Challenge Exhibit 1621 
A. To that group of names that were sent out in that 
batch. 

Q. To that extent it constitutes an original list in your 
office, is that right~ A. No, it does not. 

Q. Was there a 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5 list? A. That I could 
not say. 

Q. Can you explain why that particular list is called 
'' 6 List''? A. Yes. When the clerk was preparing the 
(3730) applications or the cards for this particular "6 
List'' he made them up in cards and prepar.e-d no list. On 
each card was put the name and the address of the prospec-
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tive juror. A qualification notice was mailed out from 
that card. When the juror responded the card was taken 
out of that file and put into the Off file, and if he qualified 
the history card went into the active file. 

Q. Were all of the lists of prospective jurors or nomi­
nations for jurors which you received from the Federal 
Grand Jury Association given a number? A. Not in all 
cases. 

Q. They were not listed numerically1 A. No, I will 
say they were not. 

Q. I notice there is the imprint of a stamp on Chal­
lenge Exhibit 162 which reads ''Federal Grand Jury As­
sociation, 101 Park Avenue.'' Was that stamp on there 
when that list was received by your office? A. I would 
say yes. 

Q. Does the Federal Grand Jury-

The Court: It is on each one of the sheets, is it 
not~ 

The Witness: No, just the first sheet. 
The Court: Well, just look and see. 
The Witness: Oh, and on the second sheet also. 

Q. Does the Federal Grand Jury Association usually 
(3731) stamp in that manner each list ·which they sub­
mit to your office f 

Mr. Gordon: ~rhis is objected to on two grounds, 
your Honor: One, the witness can't know; and, two, 
because it is repetitious of the ground covered by 
Mr. Gladstein yesterday afternoon. 

Mr. Crockett: Your Honor, Mr. Gladstein did 
not inquire about this stamp. 

The Court: As I remember it some of those other 
papers did not have any such stamp on. 

Mr. Crockett: But Mr. Gladstein did not in­
quire about the stamp. 

The Court: No, but what is the use in asking 
him when we have the papers right there and they 
show that they did not. 

Mr. Crockett: I have not seen the papers so I 
don't know it. ' 
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The Court : vV ell, they are in evidence. Let us 
see those three. 

Mr. McGohey: 159 is one. 
The Court: 159, 162 and 163. Now let us take 

a look at them right now and we will see. Let us 
see that list with the four names. 

Mr. Crockett, you had those exhibits yourself at 
the beginning of this line of cross-examination. 
There (3732) were three. 159, 162 and 163. Now, 
one of them is a list of four names submitted by the 
Grand Jury Association. Haven't you got it right 
in your hand? 

Mr. Crockett: I have my photostatic copy­
The Court: The photostatic copy will show 

whether that stamp is on there. 
Mr. McGohey: That is Exhibit 163. 
The Court : The one with the four names is the 

one I am looking for. 
Mr. McGohey: That is Exhibit 163, your Honor. 
The Court: Isn't it right in your left hand 

there? 
Mr. Crockett: This is the first list. 
The Court: Yes. 
Mr. Crockett: That does not have it on there. 
The Court: No, because there is no evidence 

that that was the grand Jury Association. 
Mr. Crockett: That is right, and this is the 

other list. It ·is not on there (indicating). I mean, 
the four names are not. 

The Court: Well, it may not be of any im­
portance, anyway, but my recollection was that one of 
those lists did not have that little stamp on, but 
some of the others had, and the witness's testimony 
is that that stamp was on there when they arrived 
at his office. 

( 3733) Mr. McGohey: According to my copy 
of Exhibit 159 there is no such stamp on the paper. 

The Court: That is my recollection. 
Mr. McGohey: But it does appear on the photo­

static copy which I have of Exhibit 162 and of Ex­
hibit 163. 
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The Court: Yes. My recollection was that it 
was one of those lists that the stamp was not on. 
You say that is confirmed by your examination of 
the exhibits~ 

Mr. McGohey: It is, your Honor. 

By Mr. Crockett: 

Q. I show you, 11:r. McKenzie, what purports to be a 
list of nominations received from the Federal Grand Jury 
Association, and dated June 17, 1941. This is a photo­
static copy, as I understand it, of the original. 

Will you tell me if you have seen that before 1 Have 
you seen the original before 1 

11r. McGohey: May I look at that, 11r. Crockett? 
J\1r. Crockett: Yes (handing) . 

..A.. Yes, I have. 
Q. And that is identical with the original in your files, 

is that right f A. It is in the court now. 
Q. That has been offered in evidence 1 A. Well, it is 

right here in the courtroom. 

(3734) The Court: If it is a photostat, it must 
be the same. 

Mr. Crockett : This is my copy of the photostat 
but I :find that the United States Attorney does not 
have this. 

Mr. Gordon: Here is the original brought in 
by Mr. McKenzie according to the subpoena, and 
they have not offered it yet or marked it. There it 
is. I just took it from that envelope. 

The Court: Why, this seems to be a new list of 
colored persons. 

Mr. Crockett: That is right. That is why I 
want to get it marked for identification and put it in 
evidence. 

The Court: I guess the reason we could not find 
it was because it had not yet been marked for iden­
tification. So that may be done. 

Mr. Gordon: No objection, your Honor, to its 
being received in evidence . 

• • • 
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(3735) AFTERNOON SESSION 

J OS\EPH F. Mci{ENZIE, resumed the stand. 

The Clerk: 183-A for identification through 183-
y for identification. They are the registered voters' 
lists for l\1:anhattan and Bronx. 

(Defendants' Challenge Exhibits 183-A through 
183-Y marked for identification.) 

The Clerk: 185-A and B through 222-A and B 
are history cards and questionnaires of jurors. 223-
A and 224-A are the history cards of two jurors. 
225-A and B and 226 for identification is a list of 
colored persons. 

The Court: What was that? 
The Clerk: That is a list of colored persons, 

dated 6/17/41. 

(Defendants' Challenge Exhibits 185-A and B 
through 222-A and B, 223-A, 224-A, 225·-A, 225-B and 
226 marked for identification.) 

By Mr. Sacher: 

(3736) Q. Now, Mr. McKenzie, I have a Challenge Ex­
hibit 188 and ask you whether the Walter White mentioned 
on this exhibit as the juror is the Secretary of the National 
Association for the Advancement of Colored People? A. 
I would say yes. I am sorry, I failed to bring my glasses 
down; 1\-fr. Doyle will bring them right down. 

Q. Try mine if you wish. I am a much older man than 
you. A. Let me take a look and see if they are any good. 

The Court: This is almost too much! 

A. (Continuing) I am afraid that these (referring to 
glasses) won't do. 

Mr. Gordon: If it is on the card-
(3737) The Witness: It will only be a second. 
Mr. Gordon: Does it show on the card? Yes. 

We agree to that, your Honor. That is what the ex­
hibit shows. 
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The Court: Well, I am a. little bit stunned her.e. 
But I guess everything is all right. No objection. 
So you can go right ahead now. 

I gather that that Walter White is one of the 
names that was in the batch that were put in the 
envelope. 

Mr. Sacher: Of the 30. 
The Court: Is he one of the ones with the C T 
Mr. Sacher: He is, your Honor. 
The Court : Yes. Now would you mind giving 

me the date of his questionnaire, 1\ir. Sacher 1 
Mr. Sacher: That is Septem·ber 19, 1940. 
The Court : Yes. 

Q. You took Mr. White's affidavit on that date, did you 
not, Mr. McKenzie (handing)~ A. Yes, I did. 

Q. Was Mr. White's name on one of the colored lists 
which you received in your office~ A. I couldn't tell, sir, 
from that application. 

Q. Well, would you be good enough to look at these 
papers, which are Exhibits 159, 160, 162 and 226 in evi­
dence and tell me whether you find Mr. White's name 
(3738) on any of those lists~ 

The Court : Now just a second. Those don't co­
incide with my numbers here. As I list them there 
are five lists, five separate lists that have reference 
to colored persons-159, 163, 162, 225-A or B and 
226. 

The Clerk: No. 225-A and B are questionnaire 
and history card of the juror. 

The Court: Oh yes. 226 is the only one. 
The Cleric That is right. 
The Court: So that makes four now. 
Mr. Sacher: 160 is also-
The Court: 160? 
J\{r. Sacher: It is "Colored Women," your 

Honor. 
The Court: Just let me check that. Yes, those 

are ''Colored Women.'' And that is a list that is 
submitted bv the Grand Jurors Association and has 
marked on the top "6 List,'' am I right about that7 
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Mr. Sacher: That is right, your Honor. 
The Court: So that now we have six of them. 

No. Five. 
Mr. Gordon: Five of them, that is right. 
The Court : 226. 
Mr. Sacher: That is right. 
The Court: So that there is 159, 160, 162, 163, 

226, and he has them all before him. 
(3739) The Witness: I have 226 before me 

here. That was the one you had, shown me, Mr. 
Sacher. 

Mr. Gordon: I object to the use of the photo­
stats if the originals are available, and the reason 
is that 226 for example-would you hand that orig­
inal to the Judge, Mr. Borman. 

The Clerk: Surely. 
Mr. Gordon: -is not in evidence. 
Mr. Sacher: What isn't in evidence! 
Mr. Gordon: 226. 
Mr. Sacher: Well, if it is not, I offer it in evi­

dence. 
The Court: Yes, it may be marked. 
Mr. Gordon: So I think if we could stick to the 

originals we will do better. 
The Court : I think the originals are better be­

cause there are marks of one kind or another on 
them, and it may be a question of whether he identi­
fies his handwriting on them or not, and I think it 
is better to use the originals. So that now you are 
going to hand him the five that I enumerated a 
moment ago. 

(Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 226 for identifi­
eation received in evidence.) 

(3740) The Court: Now what is the question, 
Mr. Sacher! 

By Mr. Sacher: 

Q. I show you Exhrbits 159, 160, 162, 163, and 226, and 
ask you whether the name of Walter White appears on 
any of those exhibits? A. Yes, he does on Exhibit 226. 
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Q. Thank you. Now I show you the que.stionnaire of 
Mr. Wilbur F. Coleman, which is in evidence as Exhibit 
190-A and B, and ask you whether on March 7, 1941, he 
swore to his questionnaire before you personally, Mr. 
McKenzie~ 

Mr. Gordon: That is objected to as repetitious. 
We went through that just before lunch. 

The Court: I think it was Flood. 
1\ir. Sacher: Flood is the one. 
The Court: Flood is the one they referred to be­

fore the recess. 
The Witness : Yes, he did. 

Q. Do you find Mr. Coleman's name on any of the :five 
exhibits now before you~ A. Wilbur F. Coleman is on Ex­
hibit 159. 

Q. That is one of the "colored" exhibits, is that rightT 
A. That is correct. 

Q. And there is this C for "colored" on Mr. Coleman's 
questionnaire, Exhibit 190-A; is that right~ A. Yes, that is 
so. 

Q. Now I show you the questionnaire of Mr.s. Sadie 
(3741) Noisette, which appears to be sworn to before 1Ir. 
George Tanner on April 11, 1941, which is in evidence as 
Exhibit 198-A and B, and ask you whether Mrs. N oisette's 
name appears on any of these "colored" exhibits~ A. I 
do not see it on these exhibits, Mr. Sacher. 

Q. You don't see it on any of these exhibits~ A. I don't 
see it, going down. 

Q. You better look again. I don't know whether it is, 
myself, but-

Mr. Gordon: Your Honor, I object to that. If 
he knows it is, cannot he direct his attention to iH 

1\ir. Sacher: I say I don't know. I really don't 
know. I just took this over from Mr. Crockett at 
one o 'clock. 

Mr. Gordon: I just don't see the purpose of it. 
Mr. Sacher: Well,-
Mr. Gordon: Part of these objections, your 

Honor-
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The Court: It is very mild and I think we better 
just leave things alone. 

That que.stionnaire has a C on it, has it not? 
Mr. Sacher: It has, your Honor. 
Mr. Gordon: May I look at it~ 
Mr. Sacher: Please do, Mr. Gordon. 

A. No, I do not see the na1ne listed on any of these ( 37 42) 
particular lists. 

Q. Now, Mr. McKenzie-

Mr. Sacher: Will you move away, Mr. Gordon, 
so I may see the whites of his eyes~ 

Q. Now, Mr. McKenzie, do you have any other "col­
ored'' lists in your files that are not among Exhibits 159, 
160, 162, 163 and 2261 A. No, I would say that this has 
either come from the registered voting book or it is a 
volunteer. 

Q. Why did you mark that with the letter Of A. Be­
cause when the party had qualified, swore to the applica­
tion, I put a C on as colored. 

Q . . Why did you do it~ Why did you mark it colored 1 
Was that of importance to you 1 A. No. The former clerk 
of the court, Mr. George J. H. Follmer, had directed me to 
do it. 

Q. Mr. Follmer directed you to do it~ A. Mr. George 
J. H. Follmer, the former clerk of the court. 

Q. Follmer~ A. Yes. 
Q. He is dead now, isn't he 1 A. No. 
Q. He is not dead 1 A. No, sir. 
Q. And is he still working for the Government here f 

A. No. He is retired. 
Q. He is retired 1 A. Yes. 
(3743) Q. Now did he tell you why he wanted you to 

mark questionnaires sworn to by Negro citizens with the 
letter C? A. He asked me at the time if I knew-

Q. No, no. Did he tell you-

Mr. Gordon: Now,-
1\{r. Sacher: Just a moment, Mr. Gordon. 
If your Honor please-
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The Court: Address yourself to me. I am right 
on the job here. 

Mr. Sacher : I will. I ask that Mr. Gordon 
please subdue his ebullience and allow us to pro­
ceed-

The Court: Better not fool with that word 
again. 

Mr. Sacher: All right. And may I proceed with 
this witness 1 Please. 

Mr. Gordon: May the witness answer the ques­
tion~ 

The Court : I know he is going to answer the 
question you asked him. 

Mr. Sacher: That is right. 

By Mr. Sacher: 

Q. Now, I am asking you, did Mr. Follmer tell you why 
he wanted you to mark questionnaires signed by Negro 
citizens with the letter 0~ Now, if he told you, all right. 
If he did not, you are at liberty to tell me. 

The Court: Give him a chance to answer. 

(3744) A. He wanted to know how many colored jurors 
were on the rolls at the time. I told him that I had no 
knowledge of how many were on. He said, '·'Could you 
give me a figure 1" I said, "No.'' 

He said, ''Well, I have been asked a question and in 
all probability I will be asked it again." So he said, "Put 
a on there, on the questionnaire or the application of a 
colored juror''-

Q. ''Every time you get him''? Is that right 1 

Mr. Gordon: Just a moment, your Honor. May 
he finish 1 

The Court: Yes. 

A. (Continued) He said he would take it up with Com­
missioner Smythe, and that was the jury commissioner, and 
that is where the conversation stopped. 

Q. Did Mr. Follmer tell you to put the letter C on 
the questionnaire of every Negro man or woman who 
filed a questionnaire with you 1 A. He told me to put 
aC-
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Q. Did he 1 Yes or no. A. Well, yes, he said to put a C 
on it. 

Q. All right. Will you swear that the only question­
naires in the files of your office which are marked with the 
letter C are the 30 questionnaires which were introduced in 
evidence today~ 

lv.fr. Gordon: That is objected to as to form. 
( 37 45) The Court: Sustained. 

Q. Do you say, Mr. McKenzie, that the 30 question­
naires which were introduced into evidence today are the 
only questionnaires bearing the letter C which are on file 
in your office~ A. No, I will not say that. 

Q. Do you know how many more questionnaires there 
are than these 30 which are marked with the letter C1 A. 
I have no idea. 

Q. Have you ever made a search to find out 1 

Mr. Gordon: Now, this is objected to, your Hon­
or, as irrelevant. 

The Court : Sustained. 
l\ir. Sacher: On credibility, your Honor. Credi­

bility. 
The Court : Well, I do not think to keep repeat­

ing that in different form is going to have much 
bearing on that. 

Q. When did Mr. Follmer retire as clerk of this court t 
A. I believe it was in the latter part of 1945. 

Q. For how long a period of time did you continue to 
mark questionnaires sworn to by Negro citizens with the 
letter 0, do you know' A. The period that I first started­

Q. From the time you first started until the time that 
you stopped, if you ever stopped? A. I have not stopped. 

(3746) Q. Did you ever stop? A. No, I did not. 
Q. You carry it on to this very day~ A. On the ques­

tionnaire, yes. In other words,-

Mr. Sacher: No, no, that is answer. There is no 
question before him now, your Honor. 

The Court: Go ahead and make your explana­
tion. 
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The Witness: In other words, it was before I 
went into the armed forces, and I believe it was some 
time in 1941 that Mr. Follmer directed me to put a 
C on all of the questionnaires of colored jurors. 

By the Court: 

Q. How long did you continue to do that~ A. I con­
tinued right down, your I-Ionor. In other words, if a 
colored juror came in today I would put the C on the 
questionnaire. 

Q. I thought you told me the other day that there was 
no way that anybody could tell by going over the files 
how many colored jurors there were~ A. There is no way, 
your Honor. 

Q. But if each one of them is marked with a C, then 
there is a way~ A. That is not so, your Honor, because 
up until 1941 when Mr. Follmer directed that the C be put 
on there were eight or possibly nine thousand jurors on 
the rolls that there were no marks on, no marks on appli­
cations or anywhere to indicate what they were. 

(3747) By Mr. Sacher: 

Q. But isn't it true, Mr. McKenzie, that during 1940 
and since 1940 you have been sending out requalification 
notices to the people who were on the jury lists ; haven't 
you~ A.. Through the mail, Mr. Crockett-

Q. No, my name is Sacher. You pay me a compliment, 
but my name is Sacher. A. I am sorry, Mr. Sacher. 
Through the mail requalifications are sent out to all jurors 
that had served. Before they go into the wheel, their two 
years is up, and in order to ascertain as to whether or not 
the information on the card is correct, if they reside at 
the same address as they did when they served two years 
ago, a requalification is mailed out to the jury with a 
self-addressed envelope returning it to the office. So we 
do not see those jurors. It is just a questionnaire that is 
mailed to them, a requalification form it is called. 

Q. Will you tell the Court whether you have made any 
computation as to what percentage of the jurors who were 
on the active jury list in 1940 are still on the active jury 
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list in 1949? .A. I never made such a computation and I 
have no means of making such a computation. 

Q. Well, your records which are found in Exhibits 179 
and 180 show, do they not, the number of people who are 
removed each year from the active jury list and the number 
(3748) who are added to it, isn't that so1 .A. Yes, that is 
correct. 

Q . .And do you not think that on the basis of those fig-
ures you could perhaps with a little time and effort provide 
the Court with-

Mr. Sacher: Just a minute, Mr. Gordon­
Mr. Gordon: I have not opened my mouth. 
Mr. Sacher: But your back looks so menacing 

tome-
The Court: Oh, Mr. Sacher, why-
Mr. Sacher: It is annoying, your Honor, to have 

a big man-
The Court: It is just confusing. I was listen­

ing here, and you get half way through a question 
and you see some body get up and you are off on a 
digression. 

Mr. Sacher: Well, if it makes him happy, let him 
ne happy. 

The Court: But it is not a question of happiness. 
It is diverting, it is confusing. I wish you would not 
do that. 

Mr. Sacher: All right, I will rephrase the ques­
tion, your Honor. 

Q. Will it be possible for you on the basis of the figures 
contained in your records to provide the Court ( 37 49) 
with some :figures which will indicate what percentage of 
the jurors who were on the active list immediately prior 
to your commencement of this practice of marking jurors' 
questionnaires with the letter C when they were colored­
as to what percentage of the total number in 1940 still re­
mains in 1949 on the active jury list 1 A. That was such a 
long question I lo.st half of it. 

Q. Well, to make it simple and short: Can you com­
pute from your books, 179 and 180, what percentage of 
1940 jurors are still on the active list in 19491 A. I be­
lieve that could be computed from the books as to the 
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total number of jurors on at one time and the total num­
ber of jurors on at the present time. As to the percentage 
I don't know. 

Mr. Gordon: That does not-what Mr. Sacher 
has asked, your Honor, I think the books in evidence 
show cannot be done because you can't tell which of 
the people came off. 

The Court: That is just what I was thinking. 
Mr. Sacher: I will let it lay, your Honor. I will 

let it lay. 
The Court: He might make a computation, but 

how accurate it would be is a question that is 
doubtful. 

Q. How many jurors' history cards on the active list 
do you have in your files at the present time? I am 
(3750) speaking of the petit jury list. A. Well, the book 
will show that. I ·believe it is close to between 12 and 13 
thousand male and females. 

Mr. Gordon: Petit jurors? 

Q. Petit jurors. A. Petit jurors. 
Q. Are you sure of that~ A. No. 
Q. Well, you better look. 

The Witness: It is a combination of all jurors. 

A. I cannot tell at the present time. I can only tell as of 
the close of business at December 1948. 

Q. That is good enough. Will you tell us what it was? 
A. There were 8,868 men and 1,87 4 women on the trial jury 
or petit jury. There was 1,852 men and 273 women on the 
grand jury. 
, Q. Did I understand your testimony the other day-

The Court: That makes the total about what he 
said. 

Mr. Bacher: That is for petit and grand, your 
Honor. 

The Court: Yes. It is 12,867. 
Mr. Sacher : And it is ten thousand something­
The Court: 10,742 for the petit jurors. 
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Q. Now if you went through the history cards of the 
10,000 or rr:ore in the petit jury, you would be able to come 
up would you not, Mr. McKenzie, with the cards, (3751) 
of' all those who were placed on the active jury list prior 
to the time you began this practice of marking these ques­
tionnaires with the letter C, is that right f A. If we went 
through the active files it would show the date as to which 
each juror had been qualified. 

Q. Now, do you have your active file organized or ar­
ranged according to date; that is, chro:Jologically, or do 
you have it according to alphabet 1 A. It is arranged al­
phabetically. 

Q. Now, you do have certain drawers in your safe up­
stairs which are marked ''New jurors, active file,'' is that 
right~ A. "New jurors, active file''~ 

Q. Well, do you have anything with "New Jurors" on 
it up in that safe~ A. There might be "New jurors ready 
for the wheel.~' 

Q. '·'New jurors ready for the wheel"¥ A. That is 
right. 

Q. Now, how many are there in that file • ·New Jurors 
ready for the wheel"1 A. At the present time? 

Q. Yes. A. I only had occasion to look at it here a day 
·or so ago and there were no cards in there. 

Q. No cards under the "New jurors ready for the 
wheel'' 1 A. No, there are not. 

Q. You mean you are not getting up "New jurors ready 
for the wheel'' 1 A. We have not had occasion to prepare 
any new jurors, put new jurors on or get the preparation 
(3752) complete. 

Q. For how long? A. A couple of months. 
Q. How many1 A. A couple of months. 
Q. What does that mean, a couple of months 1 How 

long1 

Mr. Gordon: Since you started going into his 
office. 

Mr. Sacher : If the Court please,-
Mr. Gordon: Well, that is the testimony, and it 

is in the record, your Honor, and in the last five 
minutes it has been repetitious, and I object to it. 

The Court: I don't really se.e why you inter­
rupted this. He can say well enough if that was the 
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time. It just gets things confused. I do not think 
that contributed anything much. 

Mr. Gordon: Well, the objection, your Honor­
I apologize-in strictly legal form is that in the 
questions as to the number of jurors, the work as 
to whether they have been doing any qualifying late­
ly, and so forth, were all gone over by Mr. Glad­
stein, and the objection is that it is repetitious of 
something another counsel has asked. 

1\fr. Sacher: This business of "New Jurors ready 
for the wheel'' is a new term in the record. 

The Court: I am very much puzzled as to (3753) 
what this part about the ''New jurors ready for the 
wheel'' could conceivably contribute here, and-

Mr. Sacher: I will be glad to tell your Honor. 
What I am interested in seeing is how many Negroes 
are being accepted for jury service currently. That 
is what I am interested in. And since this witness 
says that every Negro-

The Court: I do not think that has much to do 
with it, Mr. Sacher. 

Mr. Sacher: You mean if we show that current­
ly Negroes are being discriminated against, it has 
nothing to do with it~ Well, you want me to show 
it for 1947~ I will do it for 1947. 

(3754) The Court: You know you started back 
in 1940 and then you go back to the time the trial 
started and then after the trial started you bring 
up the point about that isn't enough, you want it 
right up to today which we are doing, and then as 
we go on each day there are some more days and 
you get lists each day and you go into it; I can't 
see why, if you have all the time from 1940 down 
here to the time the panels were drawn for the com­
mencement of this trial, I don't see why that isn't 
enough. And furthermore, all this fuss about put­
ting those C 's on there as though there was some­
thing criminal about it-

Mr. Sacher: Not criminal but sinister. 
The Court: As though you were trying to carry 

water on both shoulders. 
Mr. Sacher: Now, your Honor-
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The Court: If a man does something to show 
how many colored jurors there are that is wrong, 
and if he doesn't do it that is wrong. And I am 
frankly puzzled. But however that may be, if you 
desire to inquire down into today you may do so. 

Mr. Sacher: Your Honor, I feel obliged to say 
just a few words in response to what your Honor 
has said. 

The Court: You see, you have gained your point. 
(3755) But that isn't necessary. 

Mr. Sacher: I am not interested in coming down 
to today. I am not that literal. 

The Court: I will permit the question in the 
form in which you put it. Perhaps that will ter­
minate the discussion. If the reporter can get back 
to the question-

The Reporter: The reporter who took that ques­
tion is not now here. 

Mr. Sacher: I can reframe it. 
The Court: You put a question to him about 

these ne·w jurors ready for the wheel and he said 
there weren't any and then you proceeded to find out 
why there weren't any and when he told you there 
was something else you wanted to know. Now, what 
is that something else 1 

Mr. Sacher: I remember the record, your Honor. 

By Mr. Sacher: 

Q. Mr. 1\fcKenzie, are you the man in your office who 
interviews jurors who come in to file questionnaires for 
jury service 1 A. I am one of the men. 

Q. And can you tell the Court whether or not any 
Negro men or women appeared at your office during the 
entire year 1948 with qualifying questionnaires for jury 
service? A. Yes, they have. 

Q. How many appeared during 1948? A. That I couldn't 
(3756) say. 

Q. Well, was it five? 

Mr. Gordon: Objected to. 
Mr. Sacher= All right, your Honor. 
The Court: Was it a substantial number? 
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Mr. Isserman: I object. 
The Witness: That came in the office in the 

course of the year~ I would say yes, a substantial 
number of colored people. 

Mr. Isserman: I would like the record to note 
my objection as it calls for a conclusion and it is­

Mr. Sacher: We will clarify it. 

Q. What number do you mean by the word-

The Court : I was trying to find out whether I 
would let Mr. Sacher pursue this inquiry. If you 
got the answer that I did-I am going to overrule 
the objection and let you go ahead; and then one 
of the rest of you jumps up and objects on the 
ground that I am doing it. Frankly, I sometimes 
wonder what you are objecting to. 

Mr. Isserman: It is very simple. In all my ex­
perience, and I am sure in all your Honor's experi­
ence, where a general answer is given on cross-exam­
ination to the effect of an uncertain number, the 
witness doesn't know the precise number, the pro­
cedure is to start-

The Court : I am doing it so as to lay the 
(3757) foundation and allow Mr. Sacher to pur­
sue it. 

Mr. Isserman: Then I certainly withdraw my 
objection, your Honor. 

The Court: I overrule the objection. 

Q. What do you mean by a substantial number, Mr. 
McKenzie f A. I would say there was a constant flow of 
colored people coming into the office there at all times. As 
to a figure, I certainly couldn't place the figure. 

Q. What do you mean by the term "substantial"~ A. 
I will say a large number. 

Q. What do you regard as a large number~ A. Pretty 
close to a thousand or in a thousand figure. 

Q. A thousand came into your office to qualify for jury 
service during 1948 ~ A. People came in-

Q. No, no. I am asking you, did a thousand colored 
people come into your office in 1948 to qualify for jury 
,service1 
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The Court: When you say ''to qualify'' you 
must mean in response to a notice. 

Mr. Sacher: Precisely, your Honor. 
The Witness: Your Honor, that is what I meant. 

I meant that colored people are constantly coming 
into the office to volunteer, to get certificates of serv­
ice to show that they served, to ask a question as to 
when (3758) will they be called again if they 
·served at such and such a time. So when I say con­
stantly, it is a constant flow of colored people com­
ing in and out, but not as I say a questionnaire or 
qualification notice was sent to them. 

Q. Now, Mr. McKenzie, I am dealing here with colored 
persons who were sent a notice by you such as you send 
to white persons requesting their appearance at your office 
for the purpose of qualifying as jurors. 

Mr. Gordon: That is objected to, your Honor. 
The testimony is he doesn't know whether they are 
white or colored when he sends a notice. 

Mr. Sacher: But he knows when they come in, 
he testified. 

The Court : Well, as to the people who came in 
and you noticed were colored, you testify there was 
a large number that you name and that they came 
in and out, many of them, asking various questions 
and so on. 

The Witness : That is true. 
The Court: What Mr. Sacher wants to as~ you 

is, have you any way of telling, of that large num­
ber that came in, how many of them came in in re­
sponse to notices for qualification? 

The Witness: I couldn't state that, your Honor. 

Q. You don't know? A. I do not. 
. Q. However it is true, is it not, that whatever (3759) 
colored people came in with a questionnaire to qualify for 
jury service and who submitted their questionnaire to you 
after they had sworn to it before you or one of your as­
·sistants, would have his questionnaire marked with the let­
ter C, is that right? A. If I failed not to forget about it 
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or didn't put it down, it happened where I failed to put it 
down. 

Q. How did you learn that you had failed to put it 
down, Mr. McKenzie 1 When did you discover that you 
had failed to put it down 1 A. At the end of the night I 
would count up the qualification, the questionnaires to dis­
cover how many, so that I had a count of how many came 
in that day, and I would know that I had colored people 
that filled out questionnaires and had qualified. But yet 
I wouldn't say-

Q. Did you kick yourself for it or did you hate your­
self in the morning for it. 

The Court: Well, I think we can eliminate that. 

Q. Would it be possible to ascertain how many colored 
people you qualified during the year 1948 by looking 
through your active jury :file~ A. No. 

Q. Do you have on file the questionnaires made out and 
:filed by prospective jurors during the year 1948 ~ A. Yes, 
I believe we have. 

(3760) Q. And if those questionnaires were examined 
they would reveal, would they not, how many have been 
marked with the letter C during the year 1948, would they 
not 1 A. Yes, that-

Q. Yes. A. That would show, yes. 
Q. Now, do you have your 1948 questionnaires in any 

place where they can be gotten to f A. Yes, these question­
naires are there. 

The Court: Let n1e ask you, Mr. McKenzie-

Q. Can we see them todayf 

The Court: Just a second. 
Let me ask you something. Suppose in the course 

of the day, just hypothetically, that a hundred per­
sons came in in response to notices and that 15 of 
them qualified, and let us suppose that of the other 
85 that did not qualify there were 20 Negroes. Did 
you make any notation as to them? 

The Witness: No, I did not, your Honor. 
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The Court: You only made these notations of a 
C where they did qualify 1 

The Witness: That is correct, your Honor. Or 
if the juror-on the application I just put C. 

The Court: So that no matter how many there 
were or weren't who didn't qualify, you have no rec­
ord of them at all1 

(3761) The Witness: No, I have not, your 
Honor. 

Q. But do you have your 1948 questionnaires in any 
specific place where we can look at them 1 A. Yes, those 
questionnaires are here. 

Q. They are up in your office1 A. Yes, they are. 
Q. May we see them this afternoon, after the court re­

cesses? A. I believe that they can be looked at. 
Q. All right. Now, Mr. l\1:cKenzie, as I recall your tes­

timony of the day before yesterday you testified, did you 
not, that you entered the service of the clerk of this court 
some time in the year 1935, is that right 1 A. Yes, that is 
correct. 

Q. And I believe your testimony was you entered in the 
capacity of clerical assistant, is that right 1 A. That is 
correct. 

Q. How long did you serve in the ·capacity of clerical 
assistant 1 A. About a year. 

Q. On what date did you enter the service here in the 
clerk's offce 1 A. In August of 1935. 

Q. And until what date did you remain clerical assistant 
in that office in 1936! A. Until the latter part of 1946; I 
was made a deputy court clerk. 

Q. You mean 1936, don't you? A. 1936 I should say. 
Q. You were made what the latter part of 19361 A. 

Deputy court clerk. 
(3762) Q. And what duties did you perform as a 

deputy court clerk 1 A. I was in court, acting as a court 
clerk, deputy court clerk. 

Q. Like l\f r. Borman is here (indicating), is that right T 
A. That is correct. 

Q. And for how long- did you serve in that capacity as 
deputy court clerkT A. For about eight or ten months. 
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Q. Until .some time in 1937? A. That is correct. 
Q. And what happened to you in 1937, from the point 

of view of the position which you occupied 1 A. I was 
made-! was sent into the jury office to assist the jury 
clerk, Mr. Kellogg. 

Q. Who sent you in to assist Mr. Kellogg¥ A. Mr. 
Follmer, George J. H. Follmer. 

Q. Mr. Follmer was the clerk of the entire court, is 
that right~ A. That is correct. 

Q. And is he the man who originally appointed you as 
clerical assistant in his office in 1935 7 A. No. It was Mr. 
George J. H. Follmer. 

Q. Mr. Follmer was the clerk then, is that rightt A. 
That is correct. 

Mr. Gordon: Wait a minute. 

A. (Continuing) Mr. George-Charles Weiser. 
Q. You mean Weiser, sir, don't you 1 A. Captain 

Charles Weiser. 
(3763) Q. Captain Weiser. 

The Court: Let me get myself straightened out 
on this. 

Who was it appointed you in 1935? 
The Witness : Captain Charles Weiser. 
The Court: And I failed to get down what hap­

pened in 1937 there. I referred back to the beginning 
of your direct examination and I see nothing there 
about some change in 1937. What was that change 
in 19371 

The Witness: In 1937 I believe I was made 
assistant jury clerk, assistant to the jury clerk. 

Q. Mr. Kellogg was the jury clerk at that timeT 

The Court: Just a second. 
Mr. Sacher : Oh, I am sorry, your Honor. 
The Court: Now I have a notation here that 

you testified on your direct examination that in 1940 
you began interviewing prospective jurors and that 
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in early 1940, upon designation of Mr. Follmer, you 
became jury clerk; is that rightf 

The Witness: That is correct. 
The Court: Now in 1937 you were made assistant 

jury clerk, is that rightt 
The Witness: That is true. 
The Court: And who appointed you then? 
(3764) The Witness: Captain Charles Weiser. 
The Court: And who was he 1 
The Witness : He was the clerk of the court. 
The Court: Oh yes. All right. Very well. 

Q. So that you served from about the middle of 1937, 
did you, until about the middle of 1940 in the capacity 
of assistant to the jury clerk, is that it 1 A. That is 
correct. 

The Court: Well, you said early 1940. 
The Witness: That is right, the early part of 

1940. 
The Court: Well, that is not the middle of 1940. 

So just pay attention here. 
The Witness: The early part of 1940. 

Q. And by the early part do you mean the winter of 
1940 or the spring of 1940' A. I would say in March of 
1940. 

Q. That was a big day in your life, wasn't it, becoming 
a jury clerk of this court 1 A. Not with the salary it 
paid. 

Q. Oh, the salary wasn't good enough. You need a 
trade union for the jury clerks I think. 

The Court: It was a big day when I became 
judge, too. 

Q. So that for approximately three years you served 
as assistant to the jury clerk before you became jury 
(3765) clerk, is that rightf A. That is correct. 

Q. Now during that three-year period did you come to 
know a man by the name of Cornelius Smythe? A. He was 
the commissioner of jurors at that time. 
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Q. When did he become the commissioner of jurors, 
if you know1 A. That was before my time. 

Q. Before 1937, is that right~ A. Yes. 
Q. Are you sure of this now, Mr. nlcl{enzie 1 A. I am 

certain of that, yes. 
Q. You are certain of that, all right. Did you have 

occasion too-

The Court: What makes you so certain about 
that1 

The Witness: Well, he was the commissioner 
at the time that I was appointed as assistant to Mr. 
l{ellogg, and he was the only commissioner that I 
knew at that time. 

The Court: Oh yes, that is 1937. 
The Witness: That is 1937. That is right, your 

Honor. 

Q. Now, Mr. McKenzie, did you know who Mr. Smythe 
was when you were appointed assistant to the jury clerk, 
what his social position, what his professional position 
was¥ A. I didn't know the man at all. 

Q. Well, did you ever learn anything about him in the 
three years that you were assistant to the jury clerk 1 
(3766) A. I had very little connection with Commissioner 
Smythe at that time, only in seeing him. 

Q. Did you ever hear anything about him at all, as 
to whether he was a lawyer or bricklayer or something 
like that~ Did you hear anything about Mr. Smythe1 A. 
I had heard that he was a lawyer. 

Q. And did you hear anything about how he came to 
become the commissioner of jurors at $5 a dayT That was 
his salary. 

The Court: Is that what he got? 
Mr. Sacher: That is what he got. 
Mr. Gordon: $5 a day, your Honor, when he 

came in, but-
Mr. Sacher: He had to work for it in other 

words. 
Mr. Gordon: Well, your Honor, may I hand you 

the statute which contains the provisions 1 
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The Court: Yes, or just tell me about it. 
11:r. Gordon: Well, it is $5 a day when he comes 

in to draw a jury, and I think that is limited to two 
or three days a month, something like that. 

The Court: Oh. So he is not here all the timeT 
Mr. Sacher: Oh no. Of course not. 
The Court: Well, I really am learning about 

these things for the first time. 
(3767) Is that right, Mr. l\:IcKenzie, that the 

commissioner of jurors is just in here occasionally 7 
The Witness: That is right. 
The Court: He didn't have an office here where 

he was all the time, the way you are' 
The Witness: That is correct, your Honor. 

Q. Did you ever hear at any time while you were in that 
jury clerk's office or during the period that you were 
assistant to the jury clerk or after you became jury clerk 
yourself, as to the reasons why Mr. Smythe became the 
commissioner of jurors in this court~ A. No, I did not, 
sir. 

Q. You never learned it at all, is that right? A. That is 
right, sir. 

Q. Mr. McKenzie, do you know a man by the name of 
Tolman? A. I met Mr. Tolman. 

Q. When did you meet Mr. Tolman 1 A. When did I 
last meet him? 

Q. No. When did you meet him for the first time 7 A. 
Oh. I met Mr. Tolman for the first time I believe it was 
back in the latter part of 1940. Mr. Follmer brought him 
into my office and introduced me to him and told me he 
would like to look over how the jury-how we carry on 
the jury here. 

·Q. The jury system you mean. A. The jury system, I 
(3768) should say. 

Q. That is right. A. And if he wanted any of the 
forms, papers that were used, why, to let him have it. 
And I complied with Mr. Follmer's request. 

Q. Did you have any conversation with Mr. Tolman f A. 
I did. 

Q. How long did your conversation last T 
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The Court: Is that to indicate maybe there were 
more than one with Mr. Follmer on the same subject! 

Mr. Sacher: With Tolman, your Honor. 
The Court: With Tolman. 
Mr. Sacher: Yes. 
The Court: Well, you see I think it is a little 

unfair. 
Mr. Sacher: I will withdraw it. 
The Court: In my experience at the bar I have 

felt that the most unfair question that could possibly 
be asked is one that assumes something to be so so 
that the witness proceeds from the assumption. The 
way you put it-

Mr. Sacher: I don't wish to do that. 
The Court: -it seems there were several con­

versations and the first thing the witness says he 
is enmeshed in saying it, whereas he never meant to 
say that there were several conversations. 

Mr. Sacher: I don't want to do that with Mr. 
(3769) McKenzie, certainly not. 

Q. Did you have more than one conversation with Mr. 
Tolman~ A. Just that one conversation on the first day. 

Q. And how long did that conversation last~ A. Why, 
I would say he was in my office and in my company from 
about 11 in the morning, and then we went to lunch. 

Q. Together~ A. No, we did not. 
Q. You separated~ A. That is right, sir. Until three 

in the afternoon. 
Q . .And did you give him any papers from your filesf 

A. I gave him a copy of all the forms that we used. 

Mr. Sacher: May I trouble you for Exhibit 102 
in evidence~ 

Mr. Gordon: You have it. 
Mr. McGohey: You mean the Tolman ReportT 
Mr. Sacher: Yes. 
lVIr. Gordon: It is your exhibit. 
The Court: I think I had better hand these maps 

back and get them out of my way here. 
Mr. Gordon: Your Honor, that provision which 

provided for paying the jury commissioner only 
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twice a month has been repealed and so the peo:ple 
have taken it out of the appendix. It is just marked 
''Repealed." But I think my recollection is that 
was what it was. 

(3770) The Court: That evidently is not in 
any dispute, so that is all right. 

Mr. Sacher: Certainly no claim that the com­
pensation was excessive. 

The Court: Well, you are on 102 now, are you Y 
Mr. Sacher: That is right, your Honor. 

·Q. Now I show you Challenge Exhibit 102, Mr. Mc­
Kenzie, and ask you to look at the forms which are 
marked Exhibits 1 to 22, which are annexed to Mr. Tol­
man's report, and tell me whether each of those exhibits is 
a true and correct copy of a form which you gave Mr. 
Tolman on the occasion of this conversation you have testi­
fied toT 

Mr. Gordon: Would it be of any assistance to 
your Honor to hand you a photostat T 

The Court: Yes. The copy I have hasn't got 
the forms in. Thank you very much. Can I keep 
this t 

Mr. Gordon: Yes, sir. 

A. Yes, that is so. 
Q. And did you discuss each of these 22 exhibits with 

Mr. Tolman in the course of this conversation~ A. No, I 
did not. 

Q. Many of them required no discussion, is that cor­
rectf They indicate on their face what they are, very 
clearly~ A. ~I any of them are for other departments, 
like the calendar commissioner's office. 

(3771) Q. Will you indicate which of those exhibits 
came from the jury clerk's o:fficef A. Exhibit No. 1, 
Exhibit No. 2, Exhibit No. 3, Exhibit No. 4, Exhibit No. 5, 
Exhibit No. 6, Exhibit No.7, Exhibit No. 8, Exhibit No. 9, 
Exhibit No. 10, Exhibit No. 11, Exhibit No. 12-

Mr. Sacher: May I interrupt to suggest that 
Mr. 1\fcKenzie look those over during the recess, so 
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we need not consume the time of the Court on these 
additional exhibits~ 

Q. I would like to ask you this question-

The Court: Is there some point in whether they 
came from the jury room or some other room 1 That 
is what you asked him. 

Mr. Sacher: Yes, I asked him-he mentioned 
that some of them came from other places, so I 
am simply asking him to designate-

The Court: Now, one of tho things that has 
bothered me a good deal with the cross-examination 
is that just when I get my mind right on something 
and I am wondering what is coming, then you are off 
on something else, and some of them are never 
finished off. 

1\fr. Sacher: We will finish them off. 
The Court: And it just disturbs me. 
Mr. Sacher: I am making notes right here so 

that I will tie these ends up for your Honor. 
(3772) The Court: I know, but it will be better 

if you keep them right there until you finish it. 
JYir. Sacher: I will try to do it, consistent with 

what has to be done. 
The Court: You see, for instance, the other 

day there was a great to do about getting three 
cards or four cards, and he came back with the 
cards, and one of them he couldn't find, and I am all 
intent on what all this is going· to be, when-whoop! 
-you are off on something else and that is the last 
I hear about that; and then we get around to some­
thing else, then we get somewhere and that is stopped 
and you go off on something else. 

N o·w you started asking about these exhibits, 
.and it seems to make a lot of difference whether they 
came from the jury room or from some other room 
and I get it all down in my notes here and then you 
drop it and you are off on something else. 

:rvrr. Sacher: I did not want to take your time. 
I want to expedite this, your Honor. 
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The Court: Maybe I am crazy, I don't know, 
but it does seem as though it would be a little easier 
for me if you kept right on with a given subject. 

Mr. Sacher: I am sorry, your Honor; as an old 
cross-examiner you know you don't do that. 

( 3773) The Court: Well, I used to do it. 
Mr. Sacher : All right. 

Q. Now, Mr. l\1cKenzie, will you tell me whether you 
used Poor's Directory of Directors as a source of names 
of potential jurors at any time prior to your appointment 
as jury clerk~ 

Mr. Gordon: Objected to as repetitious. 
Mr. Sacher: It is not. 
The Court: Sustained. 
Mr. Sacher: Your Honor, that specific question 

does not appear in the record. A year is mentioned, 
but not in relation to the date of his appointment as 
jury clerk. 

The Court : I don't care, I am going to rule it 
out. 

Mr. Sacher: All right. 

Q. Mr. McKenzie, will you tell us when you first made 
use of the Engineers Directory as a source of names of 
potential jurors 7 

Mr. Gordon: The same objection, your Honor. 
The Court: Sustained. 

Q. You testified the other day that there was a con­
versation between Mr. Smythe, Mr. Follmer, and yourself 
concerning the use of Poor's Directory, the Engineers 
Directory, the alphabetical telephone book and college 
(3774) alumni directories some time around 1939; is that 
correct~ 

Mr. Sacher: I want to use it as a starting point. 
The Court: I know. Let me give it to you 

exactly. It was, first, 1939 or thereabouts, and when 
he was questioned later it was 1939 or 1940. So 
that that is the time of the conversation. 
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Mr. Sacher: All right. 
The Court: With Mr. Follmer and Mr. Smythe. 
Mr. Sacher: All right. 
Mr. Gordon: And do your Honor's notes show 

that this was on cross-examination that this was 
brought out~ 

The Court: Yes, this was on cross-examination. 
Mr. Sacher : Yes. 

Q. Now, whether it was 1939 or 1940 in which this 
conversation took place, will you tell us whether it took 
place before or after you became jury derk ~ 

Mr. Gordon: Your Honor, that is the basis of 
my objection. 

The Court: Sustained. 
Mr. Sacher: What is wrong with finding out 

whether it took place before or after~ 
The Court: Just listen and I will tell you what 

is wrong. When the cross-examiner covers a subject 
by repeated questions it is in the discretion of the 
Court whether or not to permit him to do it all over 
again. 

( 3775) Mr. Sacher: But I haven't-
The Court : And this time in the exercise of 

my discretion I am saying ''No. '' 
Mr. Sacher: ]\fay I just point out­
The Court: Yes, you may. 
1\ir. Sacher: -that that question was not asked 

by Mr. Gladstein, who went into this. He asked for 
the year, and I am now simply pressing-it is of 
some importance as to whether it was before he was 
appointed or after. Now, why can't we have that 
disposed of in a moment' 

The Court: It is disposed of. 
1\1r. Sacher: Well, all right. Not satisfactorily, 

though. 

Q. How long were you jury commissioner-jury clerk, 
rather, before you began to use the alphabetical telephone 
directory as a source for the selection of potential jurors' 
na.mes ~ 

LoneDissent.org



1879 

Joseph F. McKenzie-for Governn~ent on Challenge-Cross 

Mr. Gordon: The same objection. 
The Court: Sustained. 

·Q. Address phone book. 

Mr. Gordon: The same objection. 
Mr. Sacher: I beg your pardon. 
The Court: Sustained. 
Mr. Sacher: I take it the objection holds. for 

both the address phone book as well as the alpha­
betical one, (3776) is that right? 

The Court: Yes, because my notes indicate that 
that also was ~overed on the cross-examination. I 
will tell you what it covered. It covered the Poor's 
Directory of Directors, the Engineers Directory; he 
was asked about Who's Who in New York, the 
college alumni list, the address telephone book and so 
on. 

Mr. Sacher: Your Honor, I am not making a 
point of the items. 
The Court : I know you are not. 
1\tir. Sacher: The point I am making here is one 

which relates to whether he was already jury clerk 
or before he was jury clerk. That is what I want 
to :find out. 

The Court: You know, that seems so important 
to you. 

l\1r. Sacher: It does. If you would be good 
enough to permit that I would appreciate it. 

The Court: That is not what I am going to do. 
Mr. Sacher: Then I can't appreciate it. 
The Court: It doesn't seem to me that it can 

be vital to have that question over again. 
Mr. Sacher: All right. 
The Court: It is a good thing I have got my 

notes here. 
Mr. Sacher: I don 't-all right. 

(3777) Q. Did Mr. Smythe tell you why he wanted you 
to use the address telephone book, the college alumni 
directories, Poor's Directory of Directors, and the Engi-
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neers Directory for the selection of names of potential 
jurors~ A. No, he did not. 

Q. Did he just say to you, ''Joe, I ·would like you to 
use those four sources as sources for the names of potential 
jurors"~ 

:Mr. Gordon: This line of examination is ob-
jected to, your I-Ionor. 

rrhe Court: Do you object1 
:Mr. Gordon: Yes. 
The Court: Sustained. 
Mr. Sacher: Do you want to take the recess 

now1 
The Court: Yes, that is right. 

(Short recess.) 

(3778) ~Ir. Gordon: Your Honor, in view of 
your Honor's remarks about taking up a subject 
and leaving it, may I suggest that perhaps you 
should have handed. to you these exhibits which Mr. 
Crockett and then ~lr. Sacher started taking up, the 
jurors Flood, White, Cole, N oisette, people who 
apparently were colored, because they had a C 
mark on their forms-I thinf{ your Honor might be 
interested in looking at the history cards of those 
jurors which indicate that they were called for jury 
service quite regularly. 

~{r. Sacher: This only proves what we charge, 
that these are token jurors of the Negro race, that is 
all. 

1\fr. Gordon: It hardly proves exclusion. 
The Court: So far the proof I have heard does 

not bear out the notion of token jurors at all. 
Mr. Sacher: You certainly have not heard of 

mass representation by the Negro people, your 
Honor. 

The Court : No, I do not think mass representa­
tion has significance in connection with juries that 
I have heard of in the cases. But, however, 1vfr. 
Gordon, I have a note here that in the batch that 
·were put in that envelope there were 30 with a C. 

l\fr. Gordon: Yes, sir. 
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The Court: Now, there were four inquired into, 
(3779) Flood, Coleman, White and Noisette. These 
that you hand me-

:Mr. Gordon: Are those four. 
The Court: -are those four, oh, yes. Let me 

glance at them. 
Nir. Gladstein: May I interrupt for just a sec­

ond 1 That envelope that you properly observed 
would not survive, an effort has been made to bolster 
up the jury lists by getting a new envelope, and 
perhaps we ought to transfer the challenge exhibit 
number to it. 

The Court: I think that is a good idea, and 
then we can dispose of the envelope. 

11r. McGohey: And perhaps the challenge? 
11r. Gladstein: At this time. 
Mr. Gordon: Mr. McGohey suggests that the 

challenge be added to the disposition. 
The Court : Well, I am not prepared to dispose 

of the challenge now. 

By Mr. Sacher: 

Q. J\ir. McKenzie, am I correct that you testified earlier 
this afternoon that Mr. Follmer asked you to place this 
letter C on the questionnaires of Negro jurors because of 
the inquiries that you had been receiving concerning Negro 
jurors 1 A. Mr. Follmer asked me how many jurors I had 
on the rolls at the time-

( 3780) Q. Yes~ A. -of colored jurors, or did I know, 
and I says, ''No, I didn't.'' 

He said, ''Is there any means of telling?'' 
I said, "No." 
So he said, "Put a C on the questionnaire and I will 

take it up Vi7ith Commissioner Smythe.'' 
Q. And did he ask you to maintain any tabulation of 

the number of Negro jurors that would thereafter come 
in and qualify~ A. No, he did not. 

Q. fl,e just asked you to mark them C and not do any­
thing further beyond that, is that right? A. That is true. 

Q. Now, is it correct to say that you consulted the 
Directory of Directors for the purpo1.Se of obtaining di-
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rectors of corporations as potential jurors? A. No, that 
is not so. 

Q. Did you go to the Directory of Directors for the 
purpose of getting Negroes as jurors~ Yes or no. 

Mr. Gordon: That is objected to, your Honor. 
I do not see the purpotSe of the question here in 
relation-

!vir. Sacher : We are on the question of intent 
now. What did he go there for~ 

The Court: He told you what he went there 
for, because he was told by 11r. Folln1er to do it. 

1\.fr. Sacher: I am trying to spell some rationale 
out of it. 

( 3781) Mr. Gordon: He went there for names. 
Is there any proof that there are no Negroes in 
the book? 

The Court: I am sure I don't know whether 
there were or not, but I will allow the question. 

Did you go to that book to get N egroe.s for jurors 1 
The Witness: No, 1 did not, your Honor. 

Q. Did you go to the Directory of Directors to get 
manual workers as jurors 1 A. No, I did not. 

Q. Isn't it a fact that you went to the Directory of 
Directors to get corporation directors as jurors? A. That 
is not so. 

Q. That is not so~ A. No. 
Q. Well, let me msk you then: Did you go to college 

alumni directories to get college graduates as jurors~ Yes 
or no. A. No. 

Q. Did you go to the college alumni directories to get 
manual workers as jurors 1 A. No. 

Q. Now, how about the Engineers Directory? Did you 
go to that directory for the purpose of getting the names 
of engineers as potential jurors? A. No. 

Q. No1 A. No. 
Q. Did you go there for the purpose of getting profes­

sors of astrology in the Engineers Directory as jurors 1 

J\fr. Gordon: This line of examination-
(3782) The Court: I will sustain the objec­

tion. 
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Mr. Gordon: It lis very entertaining, .however. 
Mr. Sacher: Hardly illuminating, however, the 

answers. 

Q. Did you ever take a look at Poor's Directory of Di­
rectors yourself1 .A. No, I have not. 

Q. You have never seen it1 .A. No, sir. 
Q. Not even one copy, is that right? .A. That is cor­

rect. 
Q. Now, I think you testified the· other day that you 

sent Mrs. Fitton at one time to get names for you from 
the Directory of Directors, is that right1 A. Y~. 

Q. Now, did you tell her what names to get out of 
Poor's Directory of Directors~ A. I told her-

Q. No, did you 1 Yes or no. 

Mr. Gordon: What names? 
The Court : You mean to get particular persons' 

names1 
Mr. Sacher: r~eo get names out of Poor's Di­

rectory of Directors, a generic term; just names. 
Mr. Gordon: Excmse me, your Honor, could the 

question be reframed 1 
The Court: Yes, I think that can be reframed. 
Mr. Sacher: Is it objectionable 1 Is there ob­

jection to it 1 
The Court: Yes. 1 will tell you why it is. (3783) 

If he says Yes, or if he says No, the answer is open 
to miJi;construction. 

Mr. Sacher : I see. 
The Court: When you say, did you go to get 

or did you tell some body to get names, that might 
mean to get particular names, to get the names of 
particular persons, or to look and see if so-and-so 
and so-and-so and so-and-so were in there. I don't 
think you mean that, and that iJa why I suggest 
that you r·eframe the question. 

Mr. Sacher: I will accept your Honor's sug­
gestion. 
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By Mr. Sacher: 

Q. On the occasion that you mentioned the other day 
when you asked Mrs. ] 1itton to go up to the library and 
examine Poor's Directory of Directors, was that the first 
occru3ion on which she had been directed to do that~ A. I 
did not state Poor's Directory of Directors. I sent her 
to the library to get the Directory of Directors. 

Q. vVell, did you tell her what Directory of Directors 
to get¥ A. I told her to inquire fro In the Information desk 
and they would direct her to the Directory of Directors. 

Q. Now, when you first started, that is, when your offioo 
first started to use a Directory of Directors, it wa13 Poor's 
Directory that they used, wasn't it¥ A. Mr. Tanner had 
occasion to use Poor's Directory (3784) of Directors, 
that is right. 

Q. Now, you were the one who had told Tanner to use it, 
weren't you1 A. No, it was C01nmissioner Smythe and Mr. 
Follmer who had made that declliion. 

Q. I know, but didn't they tell it to you and didn't you 
then tell it to ~1r. Tanner'? A. I told ~Ir. Tanner-yes, I 
did. 

Q. Yes. So you were the one who told Tanner to use 
Poor's Directory of Directors, is that right¥ A. That is 
correct. 

Q. All right. Now how many years later did you tell 
Mrs. Fitton to go to the Library and look up a Directory 
of Directors? A. Seven years later, say. 

Q. In 19481 A. In 1948, and 1947, also, there was a 
period there when w·e used it. 

Q. Now, did you mse the Directory of Directors during 
19467 A. No, we did not. 

Q. You did not use it at alU A. No, sir. 
Q. Did you use it in 19451 A. No, we did not. 
Q. Did you use it in 19441 A. No, we did not. 
Q. Did you use it in 19431 A. No. 
Q. Did you use it in 1942, before you went into the 

Army1 A. Ther·e n1ight have been some names that Mr. 
Tanner had compiled that were still left there and had 
been used, so that ·would be getting a little bit close. 

(3785) Q. A little bit close to what1 A. To 1940, to the 
time he con1piled then1. The notices were not sent out im-
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mediately. He compiled the name:.s and they were put in 
tbe drawer there and they were sent out at intervals. 

Q. Now, did you have any familiarity with any Directory 
of Directors other than Poor's Directory of Directors 1 A. 
1fy personal-

Q. Yes, you personally. A. No, I did not. 
Q. Did you ever know that there was more than one 

Directory of Directors~ A. I had heard there was, yes. 
Q. From whon1 had you heard that, Mr. Mcl{enziet 

A. In the conversation. I don't know. 
Q. With whon1? 

Mr. Gordon: Well, I object to that. 
Mr. Sacher: Oh, wait a minute. 
Now, your Fionor, every time you get on some­

thing Mr. Gordon is there with an objection. 
The Court: Now, don't you think it iJ.s right 

that I should hear his objection and rule¥ 
:1tir. Sacher: I think it is, your Honor. But 

I do not think it is right that he should make it. 
The Court: It rnight be better than you suspect. 
"\Vhat is it, 1fr. Gordon~ 
Mr. Gordon: I am tempted, your Honor, under 

the circumstances, to withdraw the objection. 
(3786) The Court: I think that is a good idea. 
Mr. Sacher : .All right. 

By Mr. Sacher: 

Q. Who told you about these other Directory of Di­
rectors~ A. I don't recall. 

Q. When was it told to you? A. That I don't recall. 
Q. What other Directory of Directors WaJS mentioned to 

you besides Poor's Directory of Directors 1 

Mr. Sacher: I am waiting for your answer, Mr. 
:1ticKenzie. 

The \\Titness: I am trying to help you, Mr. 
Sacher, and give you an answer. 

A. I can't say, Mr. Sacher. 

Mr. Gordon: I suppose the record should show 
that when Mr. Sacher said that he wrus waiting, there 
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was no interval between the question and the an­
swer. 

The Court : And, of course, he did not say in 
answer to your prior question that anybody had 
named any directories. It was just one of those 
questions that he might well hesitate about becaUJ.Se 
it contained one of those submerged assumptions of 
fact. 

Q. What is Mrs. Fitton's position in your office T A. 
She is a deputy clerk at the present time. 

Q. And what was ~She in 1947 when you first sent her 
to the Library to look at a Directory of Directors 1 (3787) 
A. Clerical assistant. 

Q. And what was her Civil Service classification at the 
time~ 

J\fr. Gordon: Objected to as irrelevant. 
The Court: Sustained. 
J\fr. Sacher: Bearing on the witness's credi­

bility. lie sends up a clerical russistant to deal with 
Directory of Directors~ 

The Court: Yes, and I hold that her Civil Ser­
vice status has no bearing upon the witness's credi­
bility. 

Q. Did Mrs. Fitton tell you at the time you asked her 
to go to the Library to exarnine this Directory of Directors 
that she had any familiarity with the:.se books which con­
tained the names of corporate directors~ .. l\ .. No, she did 
not. 

Q. How long prior to the time you sent her to the 
Library to look at a Directory of Directors in 1947 had 
she come to work in your office~ A. I haven't got the exact 
date. 

Q. Give m,e the best, within a year or two is good enough. 
A. Within a year, and possibly before that. 

Q. Within a year, possibly before that T A. Yes. 
Q. And had she indicated any familiarity with Di­

rectories of Directors prior to the tin1e you sent her up to 
the Library for the first time to look at a Directory of Di­
rectors 1 A. Not to my knowledge. 
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(3788) ·Q. _And you did not indicate to her what direc­
tory she should look for, is that right¥ 

Mr. Gordon: That is objected to as repetitious. 
The Court : Sustained. · 

Q. Was the Address Telephone book used in 1948 f 

Mr. Gordon: Same objection, your Honor. Mr. 
Gladstein inquired about that, I believe. If I am 
wrong I withdraw the objection. 

Mr. Sacher: Well, unless ~{r. Gordon knoWB, I 
don't think he ought to take the time of the Court 
to interpose the objection. 

Mr. Gordon: \i\Tell, maybe Mr. Sacher knows. 
Did Mr. Gladstein ask the witness anything about 
the Address Telephone book 1 

Mr. Sacher: Look, the burden is on you to know 
what you are talking about, Mr. Gordon. 

The Court : He asked about the Address Tele­
phone book, but I do not see in my notes whether 
there was any such question with reference to 1948. 
But I believe I have a recollection that there was 
testimony by this ·witness to that eff·ect. 

Mr. Gordon: I have just found in my notes 
where l\1r. Gladstein inquired about the use of the 
Address Phone book, and the \vitne!Ss testified that 
he borrowed it from the County Clerk, something 
about no written instructions, (3789) George Tan­
ner used it; and then he said, "Who else used it 1" 
And he said, "1947 or thereabouts Mrs. Fitton. 

"What was her first name 1" The witness said, 
"I don't remem'ber." And then he said, "Yes, it 
was Florence, Mrs. Florence Fitton.'' 

Mr. Sacher : Anything about 1948 7 
The Court: Yes, I have all that. 
Mr. Sacher: Anything about 19481 
The Court : Yes, 194 7 to date, but no record 

was kept of those. 
Mr. Gordon: That is right. 
~fr. Sacher: All right. 
Mr. Gordon: I object to it. 
The Court: Sustained. 
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By Mr. Sacher: 

Q. Now, did I understand you correctly that you were 
born in New York City, Mr. J\fcKenzie~ A. That is correct, 
Elf. 

Q. And you have lived in the City of New York for how 
many years~ A. All 1ny life, sir. 

Q. And how n1any years is that, if you don't n1ind ~ A. 
47. 

Q. You are sure that is right now1 A. 47, that is cor-
rect. You would think I was a won1an trying to conceal 
it. 

Q. And I take it you have been about the town a little 
(3790) bit in 47 years, is that right~ 

Mr. Gordon: That is objected to. 
The Court: Sustained. Very a1nbiguous phrase. 

Q. Have you ever been on Fifth Avenue in New York 
City~ A. I have, sir. 

Q. Have you ever been on Park A venue~ A. Y eB. 
Q. Have you ever been north of 110th Street in New 

York City~ A. I have. 
Q. Have you ever been north of 110th Street on Lenox 

Avenue in New York Cityo? A. Y·es. 
Q. And have you walked through that area at all at 

any time~ A. I have. 
Q. Did you see any Negro people around Lenox Ave­

nue and 116th and 117th Street and north~ A. I did. 
Q. I think you testified the other day, Mr. J\IcKenzie, 

that you have no fainiliarity with the Assembly District 
boundaries of various parts of the city, is that correctt 
A. That is true. 

Q. By the way, is that area on Lenox Avenue north 
of llOth Street familiar to you under the name of Harlem T 
A. I would say yes. 

Q. And since you don't know where Harlem liel.3 ac­
cording to Asseinbly district lines, what procedure would 
you follow to find out where Lenox Avenue and 116th Street 
lies if you wanted to know whether it is or is not in Harlem 1 

( 3791) J\fr. Gordon: Objection. 
The Court : Sustained. 
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Q. Would you use the Address telephone book to find 
out whether a given juror's address or a potential juror's 
address was in or outside of Harlem 1 

Mr. Gordon: Objection. 
The Court: Sustained. 

Q. Do you have any notion as to the area which you 
call Harlem 1 Can you tell us the boundaries of Harlem as 
you understand it to be~ A. No, I couldn't, sir. 

Q. You couldn't 1 A. No, sir. 
Q. Can you tell us the names of some streets in New 

York north of llOth that you would regard as being part 
of Harlem, Mr. McKenzie1 A. Yes. 

Mr. Gordon: Objection. 
The Court: I will sustain the objection. 
Mr. Sacher : He said yes. 
The Court : I can't see-
Mr. Sacher : You won't allow this clerk to say 

·what he understands to be Harlem when the charge 
here is that he has systematically excluded Negro 
men and women who live in Harlem~ How are you 
going to prove intent if you don't prove at least 
that~ And your Honor said, "Call the clerk," and 
we were ready to call him, and they ( 3792) have 
called him. Now that they have called him we can't 
ask him what he regards as Harlem¥ 

The Court: Well, you see, you have already 
asked him and you have already got answers that I 
deem sufficient to indicate that he does know about 
the district in question and he does know that 
Negroes are there, and I can sca.rcely imagine any­
body here in New York that does not know some­
thing about that. 

Mr. Sacher: Very good. 
The Court: So when I sustain the objection­
Mr. Sacher: That is implicit in your Honor's 

ruling, I see. 
The Court: I thought it was pretty clear. I have 

no objection to your asking him about these 11th, 
12th, 13th and 14th Assembly Districts, if there was 
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any reason why notices were not sent there. I 
think that is a. perfectly proper question. 

Mr. Sacher: I respectfully decline to ask that. 

Ry Mr. Sacher: 

Q. Now 1fr. McKenzie, was there any period of time 
when you used a registered voters list to obtain the names 
of potential jurors from Westchester County~ A. Not in 
my time, sir. 

Q. In other words, when you say not in your time, 
(3793) does that mean from 1937 to date, or does it mean 
from 1940 to date~ What period of time do you mean 1 A. 
Well, there is a lapse of nine months when I was in the 
armed forces. 

Q. Well, we are all aware of that. You were there from 
July 1942 to April 1943; is that right? A. Yes. 

Q. All right, excepting that period-

The Court: Just a second. 
Now, I don't suppose you are in much doubt 

about the time you were in the Army~ 
The Witness: That is correct, your Honor. 
The Court: Well, what you just said was the 

direct opposite to what you said before, because you 
probably didn't pay much attention. Now what you 
told me before was that it was from July 1942 to 
the middle of April 1943; is that correct? 

The Witness: That is correct, your Honor. 

Q. N·ow, you never used a voters registry list then in 
the years 1937 to the present date, is that right, in regard 
to Westchester~ A. That is true. 

Q. Now I show you Exhibit 158 and ask you whether 
there is a substantial number of names of residents of 
Westchester County on that exhibit which bears the date 
on the first page thereof at the bottom, October 8, 1940? 

The Court: What is the number of that exhibit¥ 
(3794) Mr. Sacher: 158, your Honor. 

A. Yes, that is so. 
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Q. Now I show you Challenge Exhibit 164 for identifica­
tion and ask you whether that is your handwriting on the 
upper lefthand corner of the first page 1 

Mr. McGohey: What is the number, please, Mr. 
Sacher? 

Mr. Sacher: 164 for identification. 
1fr. McGohey: Thank you. 

A. No, it is not. 
Q. Do you know whose handwriting it is 1 A. No, I 

do not. 
Q. Was this paper produced from your files, 164 for 

identification 1 

11r. Gordon: Your Honor, I am going to object 
to further questions to the witness on this paper on 
the ground that it bears a date February 17, 1943, 
which is when the witness said he was in the Army. 

11r. Sacher : The world and the jury clerk's 
office didn't come to an end because he was in the 
Army. 

Mr. Gordon: X stated an objection. I wasn't 
intending to argue with Mr. Sacher. 

The Court: February 7, 1943, you say~ 
Mr. Sacher: 1943, your Honor. 
The Court: Let me look at the paper. 
11r. Gordon: And the witness has now said he 

does (3795) not recognize the handwriting, and so 
forth. 

Mr. Sacher: But he has also said it comes right 
from his files. 

The Court: Read the question. 

(Question read.) 

The Court: It has aready appeared it was pro­
duced from the files. So I will sustain the objection. 

1\{r. Sacher: I want to offer it in evidence. 
Mr. Gordon: Your Honor, the exhibit was of­

fered by Mr. Gladstein, and the grounds of the ob­
jection were stated, and the objection was sustained. 
The fact that it comes from his files does not tell us 
what it is. 
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The Court : Yes. I had a recollection when 
I looked at it a moment ago that that was the very 
paper I excluded yesterday. 

Mr. Gordon: Same objection as yesterday. 
The Court: I will sustain the objection. 

By Mr. Sacher: 

Q. Who was the jury clerk during the time that you 
were in the Armed Forces~ A. Mr. William Borman. 

Mr. Sacher: Would your Honor allow me to 
ask Mr. Borman-

The Court: Oh. no. I will have no more of this 
shifting people around. 

Mr. Sacher: No, I just wanted to ask him from 
( 3796) here whethe'r it is his signature, and then we 
can put it in. 

The Court: No, we are going to take one wit­
ness at a time and we are going to conclude with 
that witness. 

Mr. Sacher : All right. 

Q. Now I show you Challenge Exhibit 166 for identifica­
tion bearing date April 18, 1941, and ask you whether that 
came from your office~ A. Yes, it did. 

·Q. I call your attention to the words '' 5 List'' on the 
left side thereof, and ask you what that indicates~ A. 
That indicates that when these qualification notices were 
made out a card was made bearing "5" on it. 

The Court : "5 L "~ 
The Witness: "5 L", I should say. 

Q. Does that notation "5 List" indicate that names 
were taken from this Exhibit 166 for identification and 
qualifying notices sent out to prospective jurors selected 
from that exhibit7 A. That is what it would indicate. 

Mr; Sacher: I offer it in evidence. 
The Court: Selected from that exhibit, or were 

all the names used~ 
The Witness: I don't know, your Honor, whether 

they were all used or not. 
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Q. But some were? A. I don't know. 

(3797) :Nir. Sacher: Now, I am just trying to 
lay a basis for its admission. 

The Witness: All I can account for is that this 
is "5-L" and the manner in which it was used. It 
was not made up on lists but cards, "5-L" or "6-L." 
and as the juror came in a card was made up and it 
was marked on the card ''Eligible'' or '' Disquali­
fied'' or whatever it might have been-

The Court: And whether they did that with all 
the names on that or some of those names or none 
of those names you can't be sure because there is 
nothing on there to refresh your recollection¥ 

The Witness: That is correct, your Honor. 

Q. Doesn't the word "5 List" indicate that the names 
of some people on this one, 166 for identification, were 
added to an active jurors list known as "5 List"; isn't 
that so? A. That I couldn't state. 

Q. Do you deny that when "5 List" appears on a list 
that it means that that was the list from which qualified 
jurors were taken? A. You could have made up "5 List" 
then when the cards were made up and qualification notices 
made up and sent out for them. 

The Court: That is what he has been saying 
all the time. 

Mr. Sacher: Do you deny that the foundation 
( 3798) has been laid for the admission of this ex­
hibit now? 

The Court: Well, offer it. 
Mr. Sacher: I offer it in evidence. 
Mr. Gordon: I object to the exhibit, your Honor, 

on the ground that there is no proof that it was 
ever used for any purpose in connection with secur­
ing persons as potential jurors; there is no proof, 
if it were used; it is speculative as to how it was 
used; it does not appear to be germane to the direct 
examination. On those three grounds. 

Mr. Gladstein: May I speak on that objection, 
your Honor, before your Honor rules 1 
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The Court : No. I will tell you so that you may 
not unnecessarily burden yourself, I am very likely 
to let this exhibit in. 

Mr. Gladstein: Very well. 
The Court: Very well. 
11r. Gladstein: I will say nothing to dissuade 

your Honor from that intention. 
~fr. Gordon: Perhaps I can be equally gracious, 

your Honor. Under the special circumstances I will 
withdraw the objection. 

The Court: The exhibit may be marked. 

(Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 166 for identifica­
tion received in evidence.) 

The Court: So there may be no fog around 
(3799) the ruling, I feel that the evidence that has 
been given by Mr. McKenzie would warrant the 
argument that such a list as this was probably used 
in the office of the jury commissioner or jury clerk 
for the purpose of making out cards to be sent to 
persons who might or might not thereafter qualify 
as jurors, and that those cards had on them the 
identifying symbol-is it "5" or "6" on there 1 

Mr. Sacher: '' 5, '' your Honor. 
The Court : "5-L" and that the list may well 

have been kept, or in connection with other papers 
kept for the purpose of seeing whether the persons 
to whom those cards were sent responded. 

By Mr. Sa.cher: 

Q. It is true, is it not, Mr. McKenzie, that Challenge 
Exhibit 166 consists of names which are nominations for 
the panel of federal grand jurors for the Southern District 
of New York bearing date April 8, 1941, and contains the 
names of people whose residences are stated to be within 
the County of Westchester~ 

Mr. Gordon: Oh-
Mr. Sacher: Some of them. Not all. 
Mr. Gordon: Well, look at them again, Mr. 

Sacher. I think perhaps the exhibit should be 
passed-
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Mr. Sacher: Do you say there are none? 
( 3800) The Court : Let him look. 
Mr. Sacher: Yonkers and Mount Vernon are in 

Westchester, even though you don't know it. 
The Court: Let him look. If some of them are 

in there he can see it. 
Mr. Gordon: I didn't say that, your Honor. 
The Court: I know. You have been very wise 

in remaining perfectly silent on this occasion, and I 
think it fine. Now let us just look and see what he 
finds. 

Are there some from Westchester 7 
The Witness: Yes, there are some, your Honor. 
The Court: A few~ 
The Witness: A few, yes, your Honor. 
Mr. Sacher: Will you indulge me just a moment, 

your Honor~ 
The Court : Is that another one of those grand 

jurors-let me look at it. 
~1r. Sacher: It does not bear the legend from 

the federal grand jury. 
The Court: Oh, it does not? 
Mr. Sacher: Oh, yes, I think it does. It does. 

I am sorry. 
The Court: Then I think I had better add that 

to my list over here. 

(3801) By Mr. Sacher: 

Q. Now Mr. McKenzie, I show you Challenge Exhibit 
167 for identification, which is marked 13-P, and I ask you 
whether that list was used by your office for the purpose 
of sending out notices for qualification to persons named 
on that list' A. It would indicate that it was used by 
the office. As to whom, I have no means of knowing who 
used it. 

Q. I show you page 13 of Challenge Exhibit 180, and 
ask you to tell us whether entries on that page indicate 
that list marked 13-P was used by your office in the send­
ing of notices to jurors for qualification! A. Well, this 
was not during my time as jury clerk. 
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Q. Well, look, the world didn't come to an end, :Mr. 
McKenzie, while you were out. A. Is it permissible to 
testify-

Q. I am asking you-

:Mr. Gordon: That is objected to, your Honor. 
Mr. Sacher: Well, wait. 
Mr. Gordon: I would say the world came pretty 

close to coming to an end during that period. 
The Court: Well, the witness if he does not know 

anything about whether this was used or not should 
say so. 

Mr. Sacher: I am asking him whether the 
record, (3802) the exhibit in evidence, indicates 
that 13-P was used. 

The Court: You see, what he is trying to say is 
that he really does not know whether it was or not; 
that probably it was. That is about the size of it. 

Isn't that right, Mr. McKenzie' 
The Witness: That is correct, your Honor. 
Mr. Sacher: I am not interested in ''probably 

was." I want him to tell us whether this exhibit 180 
indicates that it was. That is what I am asking 
him. 

The Court: Well, if there is an objection, I am 
going to sustain it. 

Mr. Gordon: Objection. 
The Court: I will sustain the objection. That 

calls for a mental operation that you and I can draw 
just as well as the \Vitness. 

Mr. Sacher: Then may I, for the purpose of 
exercising both of us in the operation, state to your 
Honor that page 13 of Exhibit 180 bears the follow­
ing notation: Under the column headed "District" 
there appear the figures and letter P, "13-P" five 
times on pages 13 and 14; and under the column 
"Quantity mailed" indicates 61 mailings of qualify­
ing notices on March 4, 1943 ; ten on March 12, 
1943 ; 15 on 1\.farch 16, 1943 ; 10 on March 18, 1943. 

(3803) The Court: Well, you see that is just 
what I said, that it can be drawn as an inference 
from what appears right on the face of the book. 
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1tir. Sacher: All right. I now offer Challenge 
Exhibit 167 for identification in evidence. 

~1r. Gordon: The same objection as the objection 
to 164, on the ground that the exhibit contains a lot 
of marks, lines and check marks, and if the witness 
isn't familiar with it then we won't know what it 
means. 

~1r. Sacher: Does your Honor wish to see it 7 
The Court: Yes. What is the date of it~ 
:Mr. Sacher: It bears no date, your Honor. 
11r. Gordon: Well, the page that Mr. Sacher 

was reading from Exhibit 180 bears a date of March. 
Wasn't that where you were reading from 7 

Mr. Sacher: Yes. Pages 13 and 14. The dates 
indicate-

Mr. Gordon: It says "March 1943" at the top. 
Mr. Sacher: That is right. 
The Court : March 19431 
Mr. Sacher: That is right, your Honor. 
The Court: All right, I will sustain the ob­

jection. 
Mr. Sacher : The exhibit does not go in 7 
The Court: No, that is right. As I understand 

( 3804) it, the witness has said he does not know 
anything about that paper. Am I right, Mr. Mc­
Kenzie1 

The Witness: That is correct, your Honor. 
~{r. Sacher: But, your Honor, you invoked the 

mental operations of both of us, and I showed that 
in this record 180 this list, 13-P, shows the mailings 
of notices; the witness has testified that as a general 
matter these letters and numbers, et cetera, are re­
flected in the records to show the mailings, and this 
is-

The Court: Yes. The book on which your ques­
tion was based justifies the inference or argument 
that you make. The paper that I have excluded 
however does not bear that inference because if you 
look at it you will find it bears a whole lot of lines 
through various names and marks of one kind or 
another, and I would not feel justified in drawing 
any inference at all. 
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Mr. Isserman: If the Court please,-
Mr. Sacher: But it bears the name-just a 

moment-it bears the figure 13-P. That is the linl{ 
between that and the book. 

The Court: I understand it. But I am ruling 
on it. 

Mr. Sacher: All right. Exception. 
The Court: And I probably will make a mistake 

( 3805) in trying to explain my rulings for your 
guidance, but I shall continue to do it where I think 
it may be helpful. But the ruling is clear to me. I 
may be wrong about it, but I feel absolutely clear on 
it. 

Mr. Isserman: If the Court please, I would like 
to call one fact to your Honor's attention from which 
the inference I feel could be drawn, and that is this 
witness has testified that lines. through a name indi­
cate that qualification notice had been sent, and that 
is in the record. 

The Court: That is not my recollection. 
Mr. Gordon: That is exactly not so, your Honor. 
Mr. Isserman: I will call it to your Honor's 

attention. 
The Court: .All right. 

By Mr. Sacher: 

Q. Now you came back from the armed services in 
.April, 1943, is that right 1 A. That is so. 

Q. Now did you make any entries whatever after you 
came back from the armed services in this Exhibit 180? A. 
Yes, I did. 

Q. Will you show us on what pages your entries appear, 
Mr. McKenzie? .A.. On page 15, April 1943. 

Q. Page 151 A. And the heading is .April 1943. 
Q. Are there any other entries in Exhibit 180 in (3806) 

the year 1943 made by you or anybody else? Will you 
look-

Mr. Sacher: No, please, Mr. Gordon, will you 
let-
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Your Honor I can't stand this. Now I am in the 
process-look, he has got me crowded out of the 
corner practically. 

The Court: Mr. Sacher-
Mr. Sacher: I am a little fellow and he is big 

man. 
The Court: You get so excited. 
lVlr. Sacher: No. He is always pushing. 
The Court: I can never tell when you are really 

excited or when you are putting on an act. 
~1r. Gordon: This is an act. 
~1r. Sacher: Now look where I stand, your Honor, 

just look. 
The Court: Now, what is worrying you1 Be­

cause Mr. Gordon is standing there isn't really harm­
ing you. 

Mr. Sacher: I am cornered. I want a little bit 
of room. 

The Court: What is the question that you have 
asked the ·witness 1 

~1r. Sacher : And he is hiding me from public 
view, too. 

Mr. McGohey: Not your voice. 
( 3807) The Court: Well, confession is good for 

the soul. 
Mr. Gordon: Your Honor, may I look at the 

entry which he directed the 'vitness 's attention to? 
And then I 'vill get away from here. I think that is 
something-

The Court : Let him ask the question. 
Mr. Gordon: Oh, he already asked a question. 
The Court: But I take it you are approaching 

the witness stand so that you might or might not 
formulate an objection. 

Mr. Gordon: It was to see what the examination 
·was about. In the case of 1ir. Sacher we don't have 
the whispering problem, but there is a little con­
ference up there. 

The Court: Yes. I think it is- not always proper 
for an adversary counsel to see exactly what it is, 
but here I see no harm in it. And I have forgotten 

LoneDissent.org



1900 

Joseph F. McKenzie-for Government on Challenge-Cross 

the question in the excitement.. Now, let us s~e wh~t 
the question was. As I recall1t, you were ask1ng d1d 
anybody else, in the whole book-

l\1r. Sacher: No, I want to show the rest of the 
year 1943-

The \Vi tness : After-

Q. After page 15, which you have mentioned, is there 
any entry in that book for any part of the year 1943 after 
(3808) page 15 which contains en~ries in regard to A~ril, 
I think you said, 19431 A. There IS no entry as to notices 
sent out after April 30, 1943. 

Q. As a matter of fact aren't there seven pages missing 
from this book Exhibit 180, pages 17 to 24 inclusive? 
\\there are those pages 17 to 24 ~ 

Mr. Gordon: "\V ell, is there one question or 
two? 

Mr. Sacher: Wait a minute. Your Honor, I 
·would like to have the witness's answer. 

The Court : Sustained. You have been going on 
asking any number of questions and I don't know 
which one he is supposed to answer. 

Mr. Sacher: All right. 

Q. Are pages numbered 17 to 24 missing from that 
book1 A. It would indicate that they are. 

Q. They are. Where are they1 A. When Mr. Borman 
started this book back in 1942 it was an old book and he 
started in trying to keep a record which we had never kept 
before and had never any indication that the book was of 
importance to count the pages and see that every page was 
there. It was taken out of a file, and I don't know if Mr. 
Borman discovered it at that time, but I do know that in all 
the time that I have been in the working on this book that 
the pages certainly were not-not in there from the time I 
made the last entry until (3809) the time the figures 
were kept on this particular-

Q. I don't know what the latter part of your answer 
means. 
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The Court: Do you know what happened to 
those pages 1 

The Witness: They were not in the book when 
the book was started, from what I understand. 

Q. On what do you base that statement 1 

The Court: Just a second. 
11r. Sacher: I beg your pardon. 
The Court: Do you know where those pages are 

or what became of them 1 
The Witness : No, I do not, your Honor. 

Q. It is the fact, though, is it not-

The Court : Just a second. I want to take a look 
at the book. 

The book bears absolutely no evidence, under 
my scrutiny, that the pages were taken out at all. As 
far as I can tell from the appearance of the book, 
when it was first bound and put together the pages 
were then missing and had been so missing from the 
beginning. 

Mr. Sacher: I move to strike that statement 
from the record on tbe ground that your Honor is 
not under oath and hasn't been shown to be quali­
fied to give expert testimony as to what the book 
indicates, (3810) as to whether pages have been 
torn out or not. 

The Court: It indicates that to me and I put it 
on the record. 

Mr. Sacher: For what it is worth, shall we say. 
The Court: Don't you think it looks the same 

way? 
Mr. Sacher: I have no opinion to offer on it. 

I think we ought to send for Mr. Osborn before any 
of us can form an opinion on it. 

The Court: I got the impression from the way 
you spoke that the back showed evidence of pages 
being torn out. As I look at it I find no evidence of 
anything 'vhatever being taken out. This isn't the 
first book that had pages missing. 
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Mr. Sacher: Let me say to your Honor that 
this is the kind of book-you will notice where that 
cord is run right through the page; you could pull 
pieces of paper out from both sides of the page there 
and there would be no evidence that the paper had 
been torn. That is the way that is constructed there. 
And to say that there is no evidence is simply to say 
that the structure of the book at that point is such 
that you can remove pages without leaving a trace of 
the removal. 

The Court: It so appears to me. If I am wrong, 
why, I will take evidence that you may submit. But 
that is (3811) the way it looks to me. Let me look 
at it again and see if there is a continuity of subject 
matter. 

:Mr. Sacher: Continuity of subject matter 1 
The Court : Yes. 
Mr. Sacher: No, sir, there is not. 
Mr. Gordon: I move to strike that out. 
Mr. Sacher: That is. what aroused my curiosity 

about it this morning. 
Mr. Gordon: I move to strike that. 
The Court: Well, I do not have any objection 

to counsel making some comment like that. I think 
it is reasonable enough when there is an obvious 
hiatus in page numbers for counsel to express a 
suspicion. The nature of the matter on the various 
pages as far as I can tell at the moment indicates 
little one way or another. 

Mr. Gladstein: Ma.y I see it, your Honor! 
The Court: Yes. Well, here is where we are 

going to adjourn for the day. 
The Witness: Your Honor, may I ask­
Mr. Isserman: If the Court please-
The Witness: -is Mr. Gladstein going to come 

up in our office to look at some applications 1 There 
is some· question about it. 

The Court: Do you want to go up there and look 
(3811-A) at some applications, Mr. Gladstein? 
You straighten it out between you and Mr. Gladstein. 

(Adjourned to February 17, 1949, at 10.30 a.m.) 
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(3812) New York, February 17, 1949; 
10.30 a.m . 

• • • 
(3817) Mr. Sacher: Shall I proceed, your 

Honor? 
The Court : Yes. 

Cross examin,ation continued by lJJr. Sacher: 
Q. Now, Mr. McKenzie, yesterday afternoon you testi­

fied ru3 follows, at page 3783 of the transcript: 

'' Q. On the occasion that you mentioned the other day 
when you asked ~lrs. )j1itton to go up to the library and 
examine Poor's Directory of Directors, was that the first 
occasion on which she had been directed to do that 1'' 

.And you answered: "I did not state Poor's Directory 
of Directors. I sent her to the library to get the Directory 
of Directors.'' 

Do you recall that7 A. I do, sir. 
Q. Did you ever learn what Directory of Directors she 

actually did use~ 
Mr. Gordon: Objected to as repetitious, your 

Honor. This is either the third or fourth time around 
on this subject. 

The Court: I think it is. 
Mr. Sacher: Did he testify that it was Poor's t 
The Court: No, I think he testified that he didn't 

know which one. 
Mr. Sacher: Well, I have here some te~.Stimony 

to call to his attention which shows that he did know. 
That is the purpose of this. 

( (3818) The Court: Then without all the pre­
liminaries get right to it. 

Mr. Sacher: All right. 

Q. Do you recall testifying in response to Mr. Gordon's 
questions as follows at pages 3468 and 3469 of the tran­
script: 

"Q. ~ow, how long did you continue using these regis­
tered vohng books? A. We continued using them and we 
still are using them.'' ' 
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Do you remember that? A. Mr. Gordon was talking 
about back in 1940-

Q. No, do you rernernbBr that? Do you remember that? 
A.l do. 

Q. Did you make that answcrT A. I did. 
Q. \Vere you askBd the following question: 

"Q. How about the address telephone book'" And 
did you make the following answer at page 3469: "The 
address telephone hook was only used for a short period, 
I would say possibly a month or two, when we discontinued 
it. \Ve secured a thousand names frOin that source.'' 

Did you make that answer 1 A. Yes, I did. 
Q. \\7 ere you asked the following question by Mr. Gor­

don at page 3469: 

'' Q. And the use of the Poor's Directory which was 
kept at the Library?" 

(8819) Were you asked that question? Do you remem­
ber that? 

l\fr. Gordon: It looks as though I made a mis­
take. 

A. And that was referring to 1940-

Mr. Sacher: Now wait a minute. Is that an 
objection or a confession~ Which is it Y 

The Court : Well, I don't think we will go into 
that. Go ahead and ask him the question. 

:Mr. Sacher: All right. 

Q. Were you asked the following question: 

"Q. And the use of the Poor's Directory which was 
kept at the Library?'' 

\Vere you asked that question? Yes or noT A. I was. 

Q. And did you make the following answer: 

"Why we completed using that in May or June of 
1948. ,, 

Did you make that answer? Yes or not A. Yes, I 
did. 
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Mr. Sacher: May I trouble you for Exhibits 178 
and 179, please 1 

(Exhibits handed to Mr. Sacher.) 

Mr. Sacher: I wanted 179 and 180. 
Mr. Gordon: That is not what you asked for. 
Mr. Sacher: I don't think your hearing is very 

( 3820) good today, Mr. Gordon. 
Mr. Gordon: I will stand on the record that yon 

asked for 178 and 179. Now yon made a little mis­
take just the way I did when I thought that Poor's 
was the only directory. 

The Court: Now, Mr. Gordon-
Mr. Sacher: He didn't have breakfast thi:s 

morning-
The Court: -you ought not to seize that bait 

so readily. 
Mr. Gordon: I apologize, your Honor. 
The Court: They spread this ·bait around here. 

Now you snap it up so fast. 
Mr. Gordon: I apologize, your Honor. Unfor­

tunately the record does not show all the remarks 
which are made to me sotto voce. 

The Court: I know, but those little remarks, 
they have no place in the record, and it is undoubted, 
ly just the way you say, but don't get bothered by 
these things. 

Mr. Gladstein: Your Honor means that Mr. Gor­
don ought not to respond to the fish hooks t 

By Mr. Sacher: 

Q. I show you Exhibit 179, page 24, and ask you to 
state whether there are any entries on that page which 
(3821) indicate the mailing of jury notices to directors of 
corporations~ A. Yes, there are. 

Q. What month of the year and what year does page 24 
of Exhibit 179 refer to~ A. May of 1948. . 

Q. And how many notices does page 24 indicate were 
sent to corporation directors in May 1948 ~ 

Mr. Gordon: If it indicate,s that at all, your 
Honor. I don't understand-
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~~r. Sacher: He just testified it did, Mr. Gordon. 
Mr. Gordon: Did he~ 
Mr. Sacher: You are not listening. 
Mr. Gordon: You see, your Honor, I say nothing 

in reply. 
The Court: I know. That is good work. 

A. It shows three dates of 25 apiece sent out and one day 
of 125. A total of 200. 

Q. 200 jury notices sent to corporation directors in 
May, 1948, is that right~ A. That is correct. 

~~r. McGohey: You mean qualification notices T 
The Witness: Qualification notices. 

Q. Qualification notices~ A. Yes. 
Q. When was the next month after May 1948 that you 

sent out qualification notices to prospective or potential 
jurors~ Does that appear in Exhibit 179? A. It does. 

(3822) Q. On what page does that appear? A. On the 
following page. 

Q. And what is the month on that following page 1 A. 
Qualification notices-

Q. No. What is the month T The month 1 A. October 
1948. 

Q. Does that indicate then that there was a hiatus of 
four months, that is, between May 1948 and October 1948 
when no jury qualification notices were sent out 1 A. That 
is correct. 

Q. Now, does page 25 of Exhibit 179 indicate that quali­
fication notices were sent out to directors of corporations 
during the month of October, 1948 ~ A. Yes, it does. 

Q. How many notices were sent to corporation directors 
in October, 1948~ A. There are :five days at 50 apiece. 250. 

Q. 2501 A. Yes. 
Q. What was the total number of notices sent out; that 

is, jury qualification notices, sent out during the month of 
October 19481 A. 750. 

Q. So that the number of qualification notices sent to 
corporation directors constitute 33-1/3 per cent of the total 
number of qualification notices which you sent out in Octo­
ber, 1948, is that right T A. I haven't computed it. 

(3823) Q. Well, don't you know that-
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The Court: It is about-
Mr. Sacher: It is not about. It is exactly a 

third. 
The Court: If it is, it is, so let us not get into 

argument with the witness about it. 
Mr. Sacher : After all, Mr. McKenzie can add 

and subtract and divide, I assume. 
The Court: Yes, so can I, but I make mistakes 

very often. 
Mr. Sacher: All right. 
Now I would like to have Mr. McKenzie's affi­

davit of October 6, 19·48, please. That is among the 
filed papers in the case. 

The Court: In what connection was that served, 
Mr. Sacher1 

Mr. Sacher: That was served in opposition to 
the motion to dismiss the indictment on the ground. 
that the grand jury was illegally composed, your· 
Honor. 

The Court: I am not sure whether I have here 
all the papers that were put in last fall. 

Mr. McGohey: That motion did not come on be­
fore your Honor. That is the one that came on be­
fore Judge Hulbert. 

The Court : Well then, I think I can find it. 
(3824) I think I probably have the papers here that 
were before Judge Hulbert. I may not have them 
all. 

October 6, 1948 ~ 
Mr. Sacher: That is right, your Honor. 
The Court: I have it here (handing). 

Q. Mr. McKenzie, will you be kind enough to look at 
this paper and tell me whether that is your signature? A. 
Yes, that is correct. 

Q. And does this paper which I show you purport to 
be an affidavit which you swore to on October 6, 1948, be­
fore John T. O'Lear, Jr., notary public? A. That is 
correct. 

Q. And you did swear to the truth of the contents of 
that affidavit that I have just shown you? A. I did. 
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Mr. Sacher: I offer the affidavit of Joseph F. 
McKenzie, sworn to October 6, 1948, in evidence, 
and ask since it is a court record that it be deemed 
marked. 

The Court: Yes. Let me have a look at it. Has 
Mr. McGohey seen it~ 

Mr. McGohey: Yes, I am familiar with the affi­
davit, your Honor. I have no objection. 

The Court: It may be deemed marked in evi­
aence. 

(Deemed marked Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 
227 in evidence.) 

(3825) Q. Did you have any conversation with any­
one in the office of the United States Attorney prior to 
your signing Exhibit 227 in respect to the matters which 
are contained in that exhibit~ A. I did. 

Q. And whom did you speak to, Mr. McKenzie? A. I 
believe it was a Mr. Wallace. 

Q. Mr. Wallace~ A. Yes. 
Q. Is he in the courtroom now' A. No, I don't see 

him. 
Q. Has he been in the courtroom since the trial of this 

challenge began, do you know~ 

Mr. Gordon: That is objected to. The witness 
does not know. 

Mr. Sacher: Will you concede that, Mr. Gordon T 
The Court: If there is some inconsistency pro­

ceed without all these preliminaries. 
Mr. Sacher: I will, your Honor. 

Q. Did Mr. Wallace ask you to tell him how the names 
of prospective or potential jurors were selected by you or 
your associates or assistants in the jury clerk's office¥ A. 
Mr. Wallace asked me-

Q. Did he 7 Y e.s or no 1 A. No, he did not. 
Q. He did not? A. No. 
Q. Did he tell you that the defendants in this case had 

made a motion to dismiss the indictment on the ground 
(3826) that the jury, the grand jury, which indicted them, 
was illegaily constituted 1 
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Mr. Gordon: Objected to. 
The Court: Sustained. 

Q. Did you tell Mr. Wallace anything concerning the 
selection of names of corporation directors- A. Mr. 
Wallace-

Q. -as potential names of jurors~ A. Mr. Wallace 
asked, ''.Where are you getting your jurors 1 '' 

Q. Is that what he asked you~ A. Ye.s. 
Q. Did you tell him? A. I said, ''From the lists of 

registered voters.'' 
Q. Is that all you told him~ A. That is all I told him. 

He asked for the list of registered voters and I went and 
got them for him, and he asked, "How do you arrive at 
the names here~'' And I explained to him they are given 
to a deputy court clerk who-

Q. I know. You got on, Mr. ~{cKenzie. I realize you 
have spoken to somebody, but just answer my que.stion, 
will you~ 

Mr. Gordon: May that remark be stricken Y 
The Court: Yes. 
I think, Mr. Sacher, you are trying to insinuate 

that somebody told him to answer in a particular 
way. (3827) I do not think you ought to do that. 

Mr. Sacher: I will desist, your Honor. 
The Court: If you desire to bring out some al­

leged inconsistency, go ahead and bring it out. 
Mr. Sacher: I will, your Honor. It won't be 

too long. I will. 

Q. Now, the fact of the matter is, is it not, that the 
last mailing of jury qualification notices which had taken 
place prior to your conversation with Mr. Wallace took 
place in May 1948, as appears from page 24 of Exhibit 179 
in evidence; isn't that the fact~ A. The affidavit shows 
that I talked to him on October 6-is that correct~ 

Q. I didn't- A. I just want to check these figures to 
be sure. 

Q. Look, I am asking the questions. You don't ask 
them; you answer them. A. I am sorry. 

Q. Now, is the fact that the last time you sent out no­
tice,s, these jury qualification notices prior to your con-
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versation with Mr. Wallace, was in May 1948~ Is that 
right~ A. Well, I will have to know the date of the con­
versation with Mr. Wallace. 

Q. Well, don't you know the date of your conversation 
with Mr. Wallace~ A. Unless you refresh me with some­
thing there to refer to. 

(3828) Q. I see. You need to refresh your recollec­
tion, is that what you say~ A. I would like to know the 
date on which I spoke to hin1. 

Q. Well, let me ask you this: It is a fact, isn't it that 
the last mailing immediately preceding your affidavit in 
this case was the mailing in May 1948; isn't that so 1 A. 
What is the date of the affidavit~ 

The Court: October 6, 1948. 

A. Yes, the last time of the mailing of applications, or 
qualification notices, I should say, was on May 28, 1948. 

Q. Now when you mail jury qualification notices out 
do you make any preparations the day before in the way 
of preparing notices and the envelopes and the names, et 
cetera, of the persons to whom you are going to mail 
them out~ A. It may be done in the morning of that 
day-

Q. The preceding day~ A. It may be done in the morn~ 
ing of that day that they are mailed out or in the middle 
of the day; I wouldn't certainly say as to what time of the 
day as to the operation actually takes place. 

Q. Might it also be done in the afternoon immediately 
preceding the day on which you mailed those notices outt 
A. I don't know in every instance. 

Q. You wouldn't deny that it has happened in the past, 
that notices sent out to jurors on one day were actually 
prepared for mailing on the day immediately preceding 
the ( 3829) mailing; isn't that so~ 

Mr. Gordon: Objected to. 
The Court: Sustained. 
Mr. Sacher: Now, I have asked him as to wheth­

er it happened. 
Mr. Gordon: I object. 
The Court : You asked whether he would not 

deny, and I sustained the objection because I think 
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that just adds an element of confusion. His recollec­
tion of it is relevant. 

Mr. Sacher: All right. 

Q. Do you recall then, Mr. McKenzie, whether there 
have been instances in the past when you have :prepared 
jury qualification notices for mailing, or your office has, 
on the afternoon or morning of one day, and actually 
mailed them out on the following day1 A. I don't know. 

Q. You don't know? A. No, sir. 
Q. Now will you be good enough to tell the Court on 

what day in October 1948 was the first day on which you 
mailed out jury qualification notices to directors of cor­
porations~ A. There was 50 mailed October 7th-

Q. On what date was that 1 A. There was 50 mailed 
October 7, 1948. 

Q. October 7th, that was the first day after the filing 
(3830) of this affidavit, which is Exhibit 227, is that right? 
A. That's correct. 

Q. Now I ask you to look at Exhibit 227, read it care­
fully, and tell the Court whether there is any mention in 
Exhibit 227 of the fact that you ever mailed jury qualifica­
tion notices to persons whose name-s had been selected 
from a directory of (3orporation directors. 

Mr. Gordon: Your Honor, that question is ob­
jected to as unfair, for this reason: that the affi­
davit does not purport to concern itself with the 
people to whom notices were being mailed. It has 
appeared from the testimony of the witness that he 
was asked and he told Mr. Wallace about the place 
where he was getting the names from. 

Mr. Sacher: I object to this because this is 
clearly an effort to tell the witness how to answer 
the question. I implore the Court to give us the 
same consideration that was extended to the prose­
cution when similar efforts-objections were made 
by us. 

~Ir. Gordon: Mr. Sacher is trying to mislead 
the Court, and I deem it my duty to -see that your 
Honor gets the facts. 

The Court : Well, I am not easily misled, I 
think. Of course, no one ever knows about such 
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matters. But I really think that this persistent 
idea that I am ( 3831) always favoring the prose­
cution and that I am ruling one way for the prosecu­
tion and one way for the defense, it is just that 
sort of innuendo that is wrong, it ought not to be 
done. I am trying to do my best here to rule prop­
erly on every one of the things that come before me. 
But I suppose I must hear more of that. But I say 
it isn't so. 

~{y rulings have, as far as I could humanly do 
so, been as fair as I could make them, as impartial 
as between the prosecution and the defense, and this 
continual talk about how I always rule for the prose­
cution and that I always say yes to them is so com­
pletely belied by the record that I don't see how 
counsel can keep saying it. 

Now let me read the affidavit here and get it 
more closely in mind. May I have before me the 
paper to which this affidavit was responsive~ Let 
me see what it was that was said on the other side. 
You know, it is easy to get these things all tangled 
up. 

:Thfr. McGohey, I wonder, or Mr. Gordon, if I have 
the papers here, the motion papers to which the 
Government made response by filing opposing affi­
davits. I 'vould like to find the part of the motion 
papers of the defendants that this affidavit of Mr. 
McKenzie was responsive to. 

1\tfr. McGohey: Yes, your Honor. 
J\fr. Gordon: Mr. Sacher and I are not in agree­

ment. 
(3832) Mr. Sacher: As to what he wants you 

to see; he wants you to see one little thing, I would 
like you to see everything. 

The Court: You know, if I took the time to read 
everything in those papers-

Mr. Sacher: No, not everything. 
The Court: -it would probably take me from 

now until about an hour and a haif. I remember 
studying them over very ·carefully when you made 
that so-called hysteria motion last fall, and then 
you asked me to look over these affidavits that have 
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been submitted to Judge Hulbert and I did so, but 
it was a lengthy matter. Now I will look at what 
each of you want me to .see. 

Mr. Gordon: I understood that your Honor 
wished to know what the motion was to which the 
affidavit was addressed. 

The Court : Yes. 
Mr. Sacher: He thinks ''motion'' means notice 

of motion, and I think ''motion'' means the things 
that move, that were submitted to move the Court. 
Now, what is it you want, your Honor? 

The Court : Well, you see, if that is so, the re­
sponsive affidavit in opposition usually starts out, 
according to the common practice of lawyers, by 
saying, ''I have read the affidavit of so-and-so dated 
such-and-such (3833) a date,'' and then go on to 
deny or not deny whatever is in that affidavit. 

l\rir. Sacher: That is what I wanted to show to 
you. 

The Court: But this affidavit of !1r. McKenzie 
does not do any such thing as that, and so I think 
you had better get straightened out what the man 
is supposed to be doing by this affidavit before we 
get it all confused. You know, the moment-

Mr. Sacher: Right at the bottom of. the page. 
The Court : This is the notice of motion. 
Mr. Sacher: No, your Honor. That is the affi­

davit in response to which his affidavit was made. 
The Court: All right. Now Mr. Gordon wanted 

me to look at the notice of motion. 
1\'fr. Gordon: On the bottom of the first page of 

the papers, your Honor; the notice of motion says 
that the argument will concern itself with the unlaw­
ful composition of the grand jury. 

Mr. Sacher: But the affidavit tells your Honor 
what we regard as unlawful. 

The Court: I know, but I am going to look at 
them both, Mr. Sacher. 

Mr. McGohey: If the Court please, may I know 
what page it is that Mr. Sacher referred to you:r 
Honor there? 

(3834) The Court: It is page 28. 
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Mr McGohey: Thank you. 
Th~ Court: I have my thumb on it here while 

I am reading the first part in the notice of motion. 
l\fr. Gordon: The notice of motion, I think it is 

the third line from the bottom; that was as far as 
I had got in looking through the papers when Mr. 
Sacher took them from 1ny hand, your Honor. Then 
I believe he refers to page 28 of somebody's affi­
davit-Mr. William Z. Foster, which apparently was 
sworn to on the 28th of September. 

The Court: Yes. 
Mr. Gordon: May I have that book~ 
The Court: Very well, I have the matters in 

mind. 
l\fr. Gordon: Does your Honor also have in 

mind that the grand jury, whose composition was 
being attacked, was impaneled on June 16th or 17, 
19471 

The Court: Yes, I do. I do. So that the charge 
in here that the grand jury was composed almost in 
its entirety of executives, manufacturers, brokers, 
and so on is a distinct charge from the one that 
has to do with this systematic exclusion of all work­
ing people and all members of the colored race, and 
so on. 

l\fr. Gordon: And if your Honor will look at 
(3835) Exhibit 179 in evidence you will find that 
the qualification notices in this book for the period 
prior to the selection of that grand jury seem to 
come predominantly from the registered voters 
lists. I find no reference to any directory of di­
rectors. There are notices, your Honor, which were 
also mailed out-

Mr. Sacher: How about the Address Telephone 
book there? 

l\fr. Gordon: There are-may I complete my 
sentence? 

The Court : Yes. 
Mr. Gordon: There are notices which were ap­

parently sent out from the Manhattan Telephone 
Directory. 

l\fay I hand the exhibit to your Honor? 
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The Court: Yes. What was the date-
1\fr. Gladstein: Is it necessary, your Honor­
The Court: What was the date when that grand 

jury was impaneled~ 
Mr. McGohey: June 1947. 
Mr. Sacher: June 16, 1947, it was drawn on 

June 4, 1947, just about seven days after the last 
mailings in May to corporation directors. 

Mr. Gordon: Oh, no, you are talking about 1948 
in there. 

Mr. Sacher: Oh, I am talking about 1948 f 
(3836) Mr. Gordon: Yes. 
Mr. Sacher: Then let me help you out a little 

with 1947, then. 
The Court: Wait a moment. Let me get this 

straight. The charge was made as to the grand 
jury that indicted the defendants. 

Mr. Sacher: That is correct, your Honor. 
The Court: And that charge had to do with the 

grand jury that convened on June 16, 1947. 
Mr. Sacher: Yes, your Honor. 
The Court: So that any affidavit he put in could 

scarcely be deemed to describe what was done in 
1948, a year or so, a year or more after that grand 
jury was impaneled. 

Mr. Sacher: Has your Honor-
The Court: I think that is important. 
Mr. Sacher : All right. 
The Court: That is why I wanted to find out 

what we were talking about before you begin get­
ting the thing all mixed up. 

Mr. Sacher: No. I won't-
The Court: Go ahead with the cross-examina­

tion. You know, you get an affidavit, and unless you 
know what the man is talking about, why, you sim­
ply produce confusion. 

Mr. Sacher: May I have 179 ~ 
(3837) The Court: Yes. Maybe this is the 

book you are looking for. 
Mr. Sacher : Yes, I think so, your Honor. 
Mr. McGohey: I suggest to your Honor that the 

character or the occupations of the· grand jury which 
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returned this indictment are all pretty much a mat­
ter of this record, since nearly all of them appeared 
as witnesses called by the defendants. 

The Court : Yes, they did. 

By Mr. Sacher: 

Q. Now let me ask you this, Mr. McKenzie: It is true, 
is it not, that the narnes of people which are selected for 
the mailing of jury qualification notices are usually se­
lected some time in advance of the mailing of the notices 
to them; isn't that so~ A. I did not get that question, Mr. 
Sacher. Will you repeat that~ 

Q. Well, if you are going to send notices to somebody, 
let us say, in October, you prepare, some months in ad­
vance, the naines of people to whom you are going to send 
out notices in October; isn't that so~ A. Not necessarily 
October. They might-

Q. Suppose, for example, you were going to send no­
tices out in October, would you be collecting those names-
A. They are prepared in advance. 

(3838) Q. Would you be collecting them in ,January 
and February and l\farch of that year, and April and May? 
A. It could be of any time. 

Q. Now, do you recall whether you collected any names 
or selected any names of corporation directors at any time 
in the year 194 7 ~ A. Yes, I did. 

Q. When did you select such names-tell his Honor; in 
what months of that year1 

Mr. Gordon: This is repetitious, your Honor. 
Mr. Sacher: What 1 
Mr. Gordon: This is the fourth time. 
The Court: Well, I think what Mr. Sacher is 

trying to do is to show that there is something about 
this affidavit of October 6th that impairs the credi­
bility of the witness. 

Mr. Sucher: Precisely. 
The Court: And I shall permit him to do so. 
Mr. Sacher : Will you be good enough to read 

the question to the witnes.s, Mr. Reporter t 

(Question read.) 
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A. The last date that I can recall is August and possibly 
the early part of September; the latter part of August, 
the early part of September 1947. 

Q. Will you tell his Honor how you happen to remem­
ber it was in the latter part of August and the early part 
of (3839) September~ A. I still have a slip up in my 
desk of-

Q. Will you produce that slip~ 

Mr. Gordon: Wait a minute. Let him answer . 

.A. (Continuing) Of a carfare slip of the man who w.ent 
there, your Honor, to the Library, and the ten-cent trips 
amounted to possibly a dollar or so, and I gave him the 
money and he signed the receipt for it; and I had failed 
to collect it from the cashier's office, I didn't have the 
vouchers made· up. So it is still in my desk. 

Mr. Sacher: I ask that those slips-I withdraw 
that. 

Q. You say it is on your desk? A. It is in my desk. 
Q. Where in your desk is it, do you know? A. It is 

there some place. 
Q. When did you last see it, Mr. McKenzie? A. Oh, 

pos-sibly-
Q. Yesterday~ A. No, I wouldn't say it was yesterday. 
Q. The day before? 

The Court : Well, let him think and answer. 
Mr. Sacher: I am trying to help him, your Hon­

or. In any event, I ask that the witness be-
The Court : Listen, let him think. You know, 

there is nothing worse than pushing a man when he 
is trying to think. Let him think and give us the 
answer. 

A. I don't know just when it is, how recent, if it is (3840) 
a couple of weeks or what it may be, but I know it is 
there. 

Q. You know it is there? A. Yes. 

. . Mr. Sacher: Suppose we take our recess now, if 
1t 1s agreeable to your Honor, and have the witness 
bring it down. 
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The Court: No, we are going to have the recess 
at half past eleven. 

Mr. Sacher: Well, I ask-I want that. 
The Court: You will have plenty of time; you 

can go on to something else. I am not going to 
forget about this at all. 

11r. Sacher: No. I would like to have it now 
because my mind is on it. I may forget about it. 
As a matter of courtesy, your Honor-

The Court: When I say to you, Mr. Sacher, ''I 
have my mind on this,'' you go off. 

11r. Sacher: I am trying to help your Honor. 
The Court : Now this time you are going to go 

off. You see, you had my mind off so many times 
yesterday and now this is one time when-tit for 
tat. 

Mr. Sacher: Well, the consequences I think will 
be a little bit different. You see, if your Honor­

The Court: Well, I know. 
Mr. Sacher: All right. 
(3841) The Court: But I am going to have 

this thing go along steadily now and it is not going 
to hurt anybody if we have to take our minds from 
something once in a while. Yesterday it was very 
disturbing to me; yesterday during that whole long 
cross-examination, just as you would get into some 
particular subject and I was all intent on it, you 
drop it like a hot potato and go off to something 
else. Now this is the time you will drop it because 
I tell you to drop it. 

11r. Sacher: May I ask this courtesy of the 
Court: Will the Court be kind enough to suggest 
to the witness that he dispatch one of his assistants 
to get it1 

The Court : No, I won't do anything of the kind. 
You go on to something else, and at half past eleven, 
unless you can keep this argument going until that 
time, why, we will use up the time on something 
else. 

Mr. Sacher: I will keep it going on only one 
condition-if your Honor likes it I will keep it going, 
if not I will desist. 
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The Court: I am not having a bad time with it, 
I will say. It is not the best kind of amusement, 
but it will suffice for the moment. 

By Mr. Sacher: 

Q. Now, did you say that you took this money, this 
( 3842) dollar in carfares to send this man to the Public 
Library out of your own pocket 1 A. The man laid it out 
himself. 

Q. Did you reimburse him out of your own pocketf 
A. I don't know what date he called my attention to it, 
but he still had his carfare-

Q. Coming to him~ A. -coming to him, and-
Q. What "\vas the name of that man 1 A. 1fr. Rexrode. 
Q. Who~ A. 1-fr. Rexrode. 
Q. How do you spell that, please~ A. R-e-x-r-o-d-e. 
Q. Is he an employee of your office~ A. He is a deputy 

court clerk. 
Q. Now I have a recollection that you testified yester­

dAy that lVIrs. Fitton was sent to the Library to look at a 
Directory of Directors; do you recall that~ A. A Miss 
Stevenson I mentioned also. 

Q. When did Mrs. Fitton go to the Library? 

The Court: You know, you are not going to 
keep this ball rolling until half past eleven. 

Mr. Sacher: No, I don't want to keep the ball 
rolling. I want to get this now. This is no ball. 

The Court : I suggested that you pass to some­
thing else until half past eleven-

Mr. Sacher: No, I am going ahead to something 
else now. I am going into the matter-

(3843) The Court: Well, I can tell you right 
now, in view of what you are doing, that I am not 
going to tell him to look for that memorandum 
until this afternoon some time. 

Mr. Sacher: Well, your Honor, if your Honor 
wishes to be arbitrary about it. 

The Court : So, if you think you are going to 
have your way-

1fr. Sa.cber : I am not. 
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The Court : -and I am not going to have mine, 
this is one good place for me to show you that I am 
the boy that is ruling the show here. 

Mr. Sacher: I don't dispute that. 
The Court: So, if you will go on with something 

else-
Mr. Sacher: What do you mean 1 Do you want 

me to take the question of inquiring when they col­
lected directors' names 1 

The Court : No-
Mr. Sacher: Well, that is what I am after. 
The Court: You go on talking-
~ir. Sacher: That is all I want, the directors' 

names. 
The Court: -about this little memorandum. 
l\Ir. Sacher: No, I am not asking about the 

(3844) memorandum. 
The Court: But it sounded as though it was the 

same thing. 
JYir. Sacher: I have passed on to Mrs. Fitton. 

In regard to her there is no memorandum so far as 
I know. 

The Court: Well, just about carfare and 
vouchers-

~1r. Sacher: I will forget carfare for the time 
being too, and vouchers. 

The Court: Well, you know, 1\1r. Sacher­
Mr. Sacher: I want to put a question, your 

Honor. 
The Court: -a great deal of trouble here is 

that when I indicate what I think ought to be done­
Mr. Sacher: I want to do it. 
The Court: -I have been faced with the situa­

tion that others have different views, and they pit 
their wills against mine, and because I am mild and 
quiet about it they get the impression that in the 
end they will prevail. Now you ought to know by 
this time that, while I am keeping quiet and calm-

Mr. Sacher: Will your Honor let me ask a 
question in respect to this 1 

The Court: -I still have a will of my own,-
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Mr. Sacher: I know that. 
The Court: -and you are going to learn more 

of it. 

(3845) By Mr. Sacher: 

Q. Did 11rs. Fitton go to the Public Library in the 
year 1947 for directors' namesf A. No. 

Q. She did not 1 A. I believe she went in the early 
part of 1'Iay of 1948, I don't know. 

Q. When did ~Irs. Stevenson-is it Mrs. Stevenson¥ 
A. :fi!Irs. Stevenson. 

Q. When did she go to the Public Library for the names 
of corporation directors~ A. About the same time Mrs. 
Fitton went. 

Q. Now do you recall in what part of August 1947 the 
names of these directors were selected 1 A. As to the 
exact dates, I don't know. 

Q. When was the last time prior to August 1947 that 
your office resorted to the Directory of Directors for the 
names of corporation directors as potential jurors f A. I 
believe it was 1Iay or June. 

Q. M.ay or June of what year1 A. 1948. 
Q. No. Now look, I asked you when the last time prior 

to August 1947 when you last used the Directory of 
Directors as a source 1 A. It was used in August and not 
prior to that. 

Q. Never prior to that 1 A. Back in 19401 Yes, but 
now you are talking about this 1947 period. 

Q. Now, I call your attention to the following testimony 
(3846) which you gave at page 3550, and ask you whether 
this refreshes your recollection as to when you sent Mrs. 
Fitton and Mrs. Stevenson to the Public Library for the 
names of corporation directors 1 

The Court: What page¥ 
Mr. Sacher : 3550, your Honor. 
The Court: Just a second. 
~1r. Gordon: 1fay I object, your Honor? 
The Court: Yes. What is the objection. 
Mr. Gordon: The objection is that the witness 

was asked ''When did you use the names 1'' and he 

LoneDissent.org



1922 

Joseph F. Mcl(enzie-for Government on Challenge-Cross 

gave a date; and then Mr. Sacher said, "Now, may I 
refresh your recollection as to when you last sent 
somebody.'' 

1\fr. Sacher: Oh no. I asked him when they last 
selected names prior to-

The Court: Let me look at it. (Examining.) 
I will sustain the objection. 

Q. Mr. :McKenzie, did you select any names from the 
Directory of Directors prior to August, 1947 ~ A. Not-no. 

Q. Did you send anyone to the-

1\Ir. Gordon: Just a minute­

J.\.. Back in 1940 we got-

Mr. Sacher: Now you see what happens, your 
Honor. The witness said no; Mr. Gordon popped 
up, whereupon the witness said '' Oh yes, this was in 
1940." He is a (3847) mnemonic. 

The Court: Did you think this was telepathy? 
Mr. Sacher: No, it is not mental telepathy. This 

is a big boy that gets up and indicates. 
The Court: l\1r. Sacher, this witness has said 

particularly what was done in 1940, around there, 
and then there was this long interval. 

Mr. Sacher: Right. 
The Court: Now, we are going to take our recess 

now, but I am going to tell this witness, I don't want 
you looking for that voucher until I tell you that. 
Just remember that. 

Mr. Sacher: May I appeal to your Honor­
The Court: You can appeal all you want­
Mr. Sacher: No, you-
The Court : -but you are not going to see that 

voucher for some little time. 
Mr. Sacher: I want to appeal to you-
The Court: I know. It is a question of which 

one of us is going to run the show. You are going 
to find out that I am the one. 

Nlr. Sacher: May I ackno\\rledge here that you 
have been, you are and you will continue to run the 
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show without regard as to whether 'I see the slip of 
paper or not. 

The Court: You can argue your head off­
(3848) Mr. Sacher: I mean-
The Court: -but you are not going to have the 

witness look for that paper until I tell him to. 
Mr. Sacher: I have no doubt of that. 
The Court: And there is going to be some cross­

examination before that, because you are going to 
learn your place here, and this is going to be a very 
good time and occasion to do it. So that paper will 
rest where it is. 

We will take our recess and we will have our 
little debate in chambers. 

(Short recess.) 

The Court: Now, we have been discussing the 
question of whether I will direct that certain records 
be placed at the disposal of counsel or their assist­
ants, and I am reluctant to do it, but I am going to 
think the matter over until tomorrow and we will 
decide the rna tter then. 

1ir. Sacher: Shall I proceed, your Honor. 
The Court: Yes. You may. 

By Mr. Sacher: 

Q. 11r. McKenzie, do you recall the following language 
in your affidavit, Exhibit 227: 

"I have acted as jury clerk continuously for 
the past ten years except for a period of nine 

months (3849) while I was in military service"T 

Do you remember that~ A. I do. 
Q. And do you remember your affidavit, Exhibit 227, 

containing the following language: 

''In carrying out my duties I together with 
my assistants select at random from the lists of 
registered voters. '' 

Do you remember that language~ A. I do. 
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Q. Will you be good enough to tell the Court whether 
you ever selected the name of a potential juror from West­
cbescter County from a list of registered voters 1 A. Not 
during my time. 

Q. What is that~ A. Not during my time. 
Q. Then this affidavit is false, is it not, in respect to 

jurors selected from Westchester County~ Is that right? 
Is this affidavit false in so far as it applies to Westchester 
County~ A. That is correct. 

Q. What is that~ A. That is correct. 
Q. What is correct? 

The Court: It is not false at all. What is the 
use in saying that~ 

Mr. Sacher :What is that 1 
The Court: Show me that affidavit. Did be say 

those were the only lists 1 
Mr. Sacher: Your Honor-
( 3850) The Court : You get him to say it is 

false. 
Mr. Sacher: He just said it is false. 
The Court: But it is not false to me-
Mr. Sacher: Your Honor, may I respectfully 

suggest that this affidavit, Exhibit 227, was sub­
mitted to this great. Court for the purpose of 
.apprising the Court as to the manner in which 
jurors or the names of jurors were selected; and, 
as a matter of fact, Mr. McGohey filed a brief in 
this court in which he stated on the strength of this 
affidavit, .and 1\ir. Connell's, I believe, that grand 
jurors or all jurors in this court-I don't recall 
distinctly at the moment whether it was all or grand 
jurors-are selected exclusively from voting reg. 
istry lists. 

The Court: I understand that, Mr. Sacher. 
Mr. Sacher: Now the point I am making-
The Court: I understand that you could argue 

that the affidavit was perhaps misleading. 
Mr. Sacher: No. I say it was false and untrue­
The Court: All right. 
Mr. Sacher: -designed to deceive the Court. 

That is my charge. And this witness has just ad-. 
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mitted that the affidavit was false in respect to jurors 
from Westchester County. 

The Court: And I say it is not. 
(3851) Mr. Sacher: You mean the witness says 

it is false and you say it is not false~ 
The Court: You are talking about perjury, Mr. 

Sacher. That is a very serious matter. 
Mr. Sacher: I have not yet mentioned perjury. 

A perjury requires intent and knowledge, and I 
have not yet charged it to this witness. Not yet. 

The Court: Well, I see nothing in the affidavit, 
taken with the testimony here, which justifies the 
characterization here that it is false. I could see 
~ow you could argue that he should have put that 
lll-

Mr. Sacher: Should have put what in, your 
Honor~ 

The Court: -should have put in about the West­
chester business, which is what you were talking 
about. 

Mr. Sacher: I don't know what there is in West­
chester. He has not said yet. 

The Court : l-Ie has testified here to me all along 
as to the Westchester situation, that they did not 
take the lists of registered voters there because 
they had no appropriation of funds for that pur­
pose, and while the expense was slight I could see 
no reason why he should take money out of his own 
pocket and buy things that were to be used in an 
official capacity. 

Mr. Sacher: I implore your Honor, may I not 
(3852) proceed with the witness~ 

The Court: Yes, but I am not going to let you 
characterize something as false-

Mr. Sacher: I did not. He did, your Honor. 
He said it is false. 

The Court : I know-
Mr. Gordon: I object, your Honor. Counsel 

was the one who did the characterizing. 
The Court: He asked him the question­
Mr. Sacher: And he said yes. 
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The Court: -and the witness said yes, that it 
was false, and that is just what led me-l am sup­
posed to be here protecting the witness in a reason­
able way-

Mr. Sacher: How about the defendants, your 
HonorT 

The Court: The defendants too, certainly. 
1fr. Sacher : All right. 

By Mr. Sacher: 

Q. Now I show you Exhibit 179 and ask you to look 
at page 1 of that exhibit and tell me to what month of 
what year that page refers. A. This starts on January 
29, 1947. 

Q. That was before the drawing of the grand jury which 
indicted these defendants, is that right1 A. That is correct. 

(3853) Q. Will you be good enough to look at page 1 
and tell me whether there is reference to any source from 
which ~ianha ttan and Bronx jurors were selected; that is, 
the names of potential jurors were selected other than 
registered voting lists 7 A. It says Manhattan Telephone 
Directory. 

Q. How many times does it say Manhattan Telephone 
Directory7 

The Court: On that page? 
Mr. Sacher: On that page, your Honor. 

A. Twice. 
Q. How many hundreds of names were selected from 

tbe Manhattan Telephone Directory according to the entry 
on that page 17 A. On February 26 there was 125 and 
on February 27 another 125. 

Q. That makes a total of 250, is that right~ A. That 
is correct. 

Q. Now will you be good enough to look at page 2 of 
Exhibit 179, and will you tell me what month and what 
year that page 2 coversT A. March of 1947. 

Q. That is just three months prior to the drawing of 
the jury which indicted these defendants, is that rightf 
A. That is correct. 
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